# AN EVALUATION OF A STRATEGIC STAFFING INITIATIVE IN A LARGE URBAN SCHOOL DISTRICT

by

#### Laura Julia Rosenbach

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of The University of North Carolina at Charlotte in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Curriculum and Instruction

Charlotte

2012

Approved by:

Dr. Claudia Flowers

Dr. Robert Algozzine

Dr. James Bird

Dr. Jamie Payton

Dr. Maryann Mraz

©2012 Laura Julia Rosenbach ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

#### **ABSTRACT**

LAURA JULIA ROSENBACH. An evaluation of a Strategic Staffing Initiative in a large urban school district. (Under the direction of DR. CLAUDIA FLOWERS)

This mixed method study examined the impact of a district-wide Strategic Staffing Initiative (SSI) that paid school personnel to transfer to low-performing schools. Surveys were administered to three different stakeholder groups including principals (N=9), staff who received bonuses for working in the schools (N=32), and other staff members in the school (N=91). In addition, school effectiveness scores were examined to determine changes in school effectiveness before and after implementation of the initiative. The findings suggest that the SSI had mixed impact on the schools. Survey results indicated that respondents believed that the initiative had a positive impact on student achievement and increased the number of effective teachers in the schools, but principals reported that more staff was needed to make a long-term impact. Principals indicated the benefits of the initiative were (a) the focus on the school's vision and goals, and (b) the authority to remove weak teachers. All stakeholder groups reported that lowperforming schools continue to struggle to recruit and retain effective teachers and that more incentives may be needed to keep teachers to create a stabilize staff. While school effectiveness scores increased after the SSI, the changes were small and not statistically significant. The study is important for educational leaders and reformers because it examines one large school districts approach to solving the challenges urban schools face in trying to hire and retain highly effective teachers in its lowest performing schools and to implement reform policies that are sustainable and result in substantial gains in student achievement levels.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I am sincerely grateful to my advisor, Dr. Claudia Flowers, for the support and guidance she has shown me throughout my dissertation writing. I am sure it would have not been possible without her help. I would like to thank my family and friends who continuously encouraged me to "get it done." A special thanks to Carol Spisak who spent the last five years as my personal editor and critic.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF DEFINITIONS	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Statement of the Problem	4
1.2. Purpose of the Study	6
1.3. Research Questions	7
1.3.1. Survey Questions	7
1.4. Significance of Study	8
1.5. Summary	9
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	11
2.1. Education and Society	11
2.2. Philosophical Roots	13
2.3. Challenges of High Poverty Schools	15
2.4. The Federal Government's Role in Improving Public Schools	18
2.5. Comprehensive School Reform	24
2.6. Turnaround School Reform	27
2.7. Previous Research on Teacher Effectiveness	30
2.8. Teacher Value Added Models	34
2.9. ABC School District's Reform Efforts	36
2.10. ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative	40
2.10.1 Developing ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative	41
2.10.2 Early ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative Findings	46

2.11. Summary	51
CHAPTER 3: METHOD	
3.1. Research Questions	
3.1.1. Survey Questions	53
3.1.2. School Effectiveness Questions	54
3.2. Research Design Rationale	55
3.3. Research Methods	
3.3.1. Survey Methods	56
3.3.2. School Effectiveness Methods	60
3.6. Summary	63
CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS	
4.1. Survey Results	64
4.1.1. Principal Survey Results	64
4.1.2. Strategically Staffed Staff Results	65
4.1.3. Non Strategically Staffed Staff Results	66
4.1.4. Summary of Survey Results by Research Questions	79
4.2. School Effectiveness Results	83
4.3. Summary	91
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	91
5.1. Findings	91
5.2. Links to Previous Research	93
5.3. Explanation of Outcomes	95
5.4. Strengths and Limitations	98

	VII
5.5. Recommendations	99
5.6. Conclusion	100
REFERENCES	101
APPENDIX A: SURVEY QUESTIONS	109
APPENDIX B: RESEARCH QUESTION AND SURVEY ALIGNMENT	114

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: Research that supports the SSI components	44
TABLE 2: Strategically Staffed Schools	46
TABLE 3: Cohort 1 Math EOG Scores	49
TABLE 4: Cohort 1 Reading EOG Scores	50
TABLE 5: Cohort 1 Science EOG Scores	51
TABLE 6: Ability of staff to improve student achievement during the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative	67
TABLE 7: Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Ability of staff to improve student achievement currently."	68
TABLE 8: Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Effectiveness of school's PLC."	68
TABLE 9: Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Input from teachers in decision making processes."	69
TABLE 10: Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Flexibility in designing lessons."	69
TABLE 11: Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Ability to improve student achievement- Self Rated."	70
TABLE 12: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Instructional Decisions"	71
TABLE 13: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Changes to SSI."	73
TABLE 14: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Benefits of SSI"	<b>7</b> 4
TABLE 15: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Weaknesses of SSI."	75
TABLE 16: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Internal barriers to improving student achievement."	76

TABLE 17	: Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "External barriers to increasing student achievement."	79
TABLE 18	: Cohort 1 2008 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=7)	84
TABLE 19	: Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 1 for the Change in the First Year (2008 to 2009)	85
TABLE 20	: Cohort 1 Freidman Results	85
TABLE 21	: Cohort 2 2009 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=7)	86
TABLE 22	: Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 2 for the Change in the First Year (2009 to 2010)	87
TABLE 23	: Cohort 2 Friedman Results	87
TABLE 24	: Cohort 3 2010 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=5)	88
TABLE 25	: Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 3 for the Change in the First Year (2010 to 2011)	89
TABLE 26	: Cohorts 1-3 2008 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=19)	90
TABLE 27	: Crosswalk of Research Questions and Surveys	114

#### LIST OF DEFINITIONS

Annual Yearly Progress (AYP) – An individual state, school district or school's measure of yearly progress towards meeting established state standards for each subgroup of students. AYP measures the minimum level of improvement that must be made each year ("Glossary of Terms," n.d.).

ABC Schools (ABC) –Located in Southeastern United States the school district serves over 135,000 students in 178 schools ("CMS About Us," n.d.).

Comprehensive School Reform (CSR) – refers to the use of school reform models or designs that offer an approach for changing the curriculum and the structure of a school, a singular instructional or pedagogical strategy, or the school culture (Lezotte, 2009).

Days of Instruction (Days) - is the way ABC district displays value-added estimates to compare teacher effectiveness scores across years, subjects, teachers, and other variables. The scores do not represent actual days of instruction, but provide the district with a way to display and compare scores in terms of relative distance above or below the average ("Talent and Teacher Effectiveness,"2011).

Effective School Movement (ESM) – The ESM started after the release of the Coleman Report in 1966 and is led by researchers Ron Edmonds, Wilbur Brookover, and Lawrence Lezotte. ESM researchers seek to find characteristics in high poverty schools that are showing high success rates in student achievement to determine if the models can be replicated in other schools (Lezotte, 2009).

End of Grade (EOG) – Comprehensive tests given by the North Carolina Department of Public Education given at the end of each school year in areas of Math, Reading and Science. Students in grades 3-8 are tested each year (Science only grades 5 and 8) ("Glossary of Terms" n.d.).

High Poverty Schools – defined by the National Center for Education Statistics as public schools where more than 75 percent of the students are eligible for federal government's free or reduced lunch program (Aud et al., 2011).

Highly Qualified Teacher–A mandate from the 2002 No Child Left Behind Legislation that mandates all teachers in public schools must meet certain qualifications. To meet the requirements, teachers must have a bachelor's degree, be full state licensure or certified, and prove they know the content they teach (No Child Left Behind Legislation, 2001).

No Child Left Behind Legislation (NCLB) – Federal legislation passed in 2002 that increased accountability standards in order for all states to receive federal funding. The mandates included; higher teacher qualification standards, improving accountability measures, and focusing on subgroups of students in schools (No Child Left Behind Legislation, 2011).

Race to the Top (RTT) – Federal funding passed in 2009 that encourages states and local school districts to take an even more aggressive approach to improve public schools. States and school districts have the choice to apply for the funding and do not have to follow the requirements unless they receive funding. RTT was passed as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) that was designed to stimulate the economy and invest in critical public sectors such as education ("RTT executive summary," 2009).

Strategic Staffing Initiative (SSI) – An initiative that began in 2007 in ABC School district to provide comprehensive support and funding the districts lowest performing schools ("CMS About Us," n.d.)

Strategically Staffed (SS) – Principals, teachers, and other support staff members who were chosen by district leaders and principals to work in a low performing school as part of the ABC School district's Strategic Staffing Initiative. Each individual received a monetary bonus in exchange for committing to working at the school for three years. ("CMS About Us," n.d.).

Teacher Effectiveness – Measuring a teacher's impact on student learning on focusing on student's growth from year to year (Weisberg, Sexton, Mullhern, & Keeling, 2009).

Value Added – A collection of complex statistical techniques that uses multiple years of data to measures the effect an individual teacher or school (Sanders, 2000).

#### CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The increasing importance of education as the means to improving future occupational opportunities is becoming more evident everyday as the difference in earnings for individuals without a high school diploma and with one continues to increase. According to 2010 national statistics, the average income for a student without a high school diploma or its equivalent is \$21,000 compared to \$36,000 for those with a high school diploma and \$45,000 for those with a bachelor's degree (Aud, Hussar, Kena, Bianco, Frohlich, Kemp, & Tahan, 2011). States and schools are under increasing pressure from Federal legislation like No Child Left Behind that holds American public schools more accountable for providing each student an equitable and quality education (No Child Left Behind Legislation, 2001). The debate on how to best educate all students is not an easy one to agree on and continues to be the source of many reforms and curricular decisions. Around the nation, urban schools are struggling to ensure that every student has an effective teacher. This is a particular challenge at high poverty schools where there is often a disproportionate number of inexperienced or unqualified teachers (Aud et al., 2011).

The impact that an "effective teacher" can have on the achievement levels of students was first presented in the Coleman Report in 1966, which concluded that teacher characteristics tended to have more influence on student achievement than any other factor (Coleman, J., Campbell, S., Hobson, D., McPartland, J., Mood, A., Weinfield, F.

& York, L 1966). Current research (Borman & Kimball, 2005; Marzano, 2007) confirms the importance of having effective teachers in every classroom. Sanders and Rivers (1996) found that after two years, the performance of fifth graders was still affected by the quality of their third grade teacher. Unfortunately, high poverty, high minority schools are far less likely to have qualified and effective teachers (Borman & Kimball, 2005; Kain & Singleton, 1996).

The attempt to implement comprehensive school reforms and increase the effectiveness of teachers is even more challenging as the nation's schools face more challenges. Data in the annual "Conditions of our Schools Report," created by the National Center for Education Statistics, indicates that in 2011 one in six students attend a high poverty school (Aud et al., 2011). A high poverty school is defined as a school that has at least 75% of its students eligible for free or reduced lunch (Aud et al., 2011). The report also found that students who attend high poverty schools perform consistently lower in math and reading achievement and are less likely to attend four-year colleges when compared to their peers in low poverty schools (Aud et al., 2011). Unfortunately, despite the growing attention and funding for public schools by the national government, the achievement rates for urban schools have not improved at the rate that is needed to ensure all students are receiving a quality education that will prepare them for the workforce or higher education.

Federal and state legislatures have made attempts to raise the standards for teachers by passing mandates that require teachers to pass certification tests and have coursework in the subject areas that they teach. The No Child Left Behind legislation passed in 2001 requires states to adopt minimum teaching standards for teachers to be

considered "highly qualified" (No Child Left Behind Legislation, 2001). Despite the mandates, research (Rowan, Correnti, & Miller, 2002) indicates that there is little evidence that there is any correlation between teachers labeled "highly qualified" and increases in student achievement.

Realizing that simply labeling a teacher as highly qualified does not guarantee that a teacher is effective, researchers and educators have continued to seek other measures to evaluate the impact of teachers. Widely known as "teacher effectiveness," research (Goet, Bell, & Little, 2008) is being conducted and debated to see if there are characteristics or measures that can predict the impact that teachers can have on student achievement levels. The most widely known model to measure the impact of a teacher is most often referred to as "value added," and attempts to measure a teacher's impact on student achievement using a variety of factors. The value added model is growing in popularity because it holds teachers accountable for things that they have control over rather than things they do not. For example, previous achievement levels and exceptional student status are beyond a teacher's control, but the teacher is responsible for the growth of the student from the beginning of the year to the end (Sanders, 2000).

President Obama's Race to the Top (RTT) initiative that was passed in February 2009 has motivated states and local school districts to take an even more aggressive approach to improving public schools. RTT was passed as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) of 2009 that was designed to stimulate the economy and invest in critical public sectors such as education. Over four billion dollars is available through RTT as a grant program that is designed to provide schools with the resources they need to implement educational reforms in four areas that include (a) adopting

standards and assessments that prepare students to succeed in college and the workplace and to compete in the global economy; (b) building data systems that measure student growth and success, and inform teachers and principals about how they can improve instruction; (c) recruiting, developing, rewarding, and retaining effective teachers and principals, especially where they are needed most; and (d) turning around our lowest-achieving schools ("RTT executive summary," 2009). The guidelines for the RTT grants list comprehensive school reform efforts as a number one priority for all applicants.

#### 1.1 Statement of the Problem

The school district that is the focus of this research study will be identified as the ABC School District. The ABC School (ABC) district is located in the Southeastern region of the United States and is one of the nation's 25 largest school districts and serves nearly 135,000 students with 178 schools ("CMS About Us,"n.d.). Similar to other urban school districts around the country, ABC has struggled to meet the needs of all students, especially minority and impoverished students. ABC has a unique history in the approach they have taken in regards to student assignments dating back to the 1971 Supreme Court Case *Swann v Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools* (1971). As a result of this case, school officials were mandated to use busing to help integrate the schools to ensure a quality education for all students. Since then, ABC has continued to face many of the same challenges of other urban schools, with the city growing into a major city, and the expectations for the public schools increasing by both the business and private communities.

Over the last 40 years, ABC has undergone many changes and reforms in attempts to continue to meet the needs of all students. In 2007-2008, ABC introduced a new

reform model known as the "Strategic Staffing Initiative" (SSI) to specifically address the needs at its lowest performing schools. By 2011, 26 schools were involved in the comprehensive reform model. ABC's approach of strategic staffing to improve low performing schools is relatively new to educational reform. Believing that effective principals and teachers have the greatest impact on student achievement, district leaders have implemented a model that recruits educators with financial rewards. Instead of using money to implement new programs and policies, ABC has decided to invest its money in human capital. The SSI was developed by ABC leaders and has many of the characteristics that previous research and new RTT legislation stress are important to sustaining systemic reform. The model has shown some success in improving student achievement and improving the overall culture of the schools. For example, data from the first cohort of seven schools, who finished their third year under the initiative in June 2011, showed gains in Math, Reading, and Science ranging from 14% to over 42% ("NC Report Card," n.d.). ABC leaders have indicated that they are committed to the Strategic Staffing Initiative and include it as part of the district's "Strategic Plan 2014" that outlines the goals and steps for the district for the next two years ("Strategic Plan 2014" n.d.). The reform model has also gained the attention of educational leaders across the country. In October 2010, The New York Times highlighted the SSI and said that "local administrators — and the Department of Education in Washington should be paying close attention to what is happening in [ABC district]" ("When the System Works", 2010).

In addition to implementing reforms to address the needs of the lowest performing schools, ABC is beginning to address the current research discussed earlier on how to accurately evaluate the effect of a teacher. ABC has begun to analyze teachers

using a value added approach. As discussed earlier, the value added model is used to evaluate the impact of teachers on individual students. It focuses on the growth of each student each year. The ratings compare teachers to other teachers teaching the same subject throughout the district and takes into account over 30 variables. ABC's attempt to place a value on teachers is also aligned with the goals in RTT, and is being tried in other urban districts across the nation as research continues to suggest that measuring the effectiveness of a teacher cannot be done simply on experience or credentials, and that teachers have a greater impact on student achievement than any other school variable (Borman & Kimball, 2005; Marzano, 2007; Jacob 2007). A detailed discussion of the value added model is provided in Chapter Two.

## 1.2 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this mixed method study is to describe the impact that the ABC district's Strategic Staffing Initiative (SSI) has had on improving student achievement as perceived by different stakeholders, and to compare the findings with the district-created value added data. The study will use a mixed methodology approach combining survey data and district-created school effectiveness data. Specifically, the study will focus on the perceived impact that the strategically staffed (SS) staffs have had on the student achievement levels in their schools. Three groups of stakeholders from SS schools will be included in the study: principals, SS staff, and staff (non-SS) who have been at the school throughout the SS, but did not receive the SS bonus. Members of each group will be given a survey that will ask them to evaluate the impact the SSI has had on improving student achievement with their students and the school as a whole. The survey also asks each group to evaluate what they perceive as the strengths and weaknesses of the SSI.

The study is important to assess the extent to which those directly involved with the SSI at each school attribute academic gains to the hiring of SS staff. The school effectiveness element to the study will provide additional information in regards to the school's value added rating in math and reading over time and in comparison to other ABC schools. The ABC value added model provides a different data source than the state released proficiency and growth scores because it takes into account over 30 factors that may affect student achievement on the school, team, and teacher level, and may be a more appropriate comparison of how well the SS schools are doing in regards to improving student achievement as measured by teacher effectiveness ratings. The mixed method approach of this study provides a comprehensive picture with specific feedback from different stakeholders about the SSI, and compares the school effectiveness data to look for trends and patterns among the different schools and different stages of the implementation of the SSI.

## 1.3 Research Questions

The specific research questions are organized by the survey and school effectiveness data methods used in this study. These questions provide multiple stakeholders perceived impact of SSI, and school effectiveness measures before and after SSI implementation.

## 1.3.1 Survey Questions

The following research questions were examined using survey research method.

Principals, SS staff, and non-SS staff were surveyed about their perceived impact of the SSI. The questions are:

#### **School Effectiveness Questions**

- 1. What perceived impact did the SS and entire staff have on increasing student achievement?
- 2. What role do teachers have in school wide decision making processes in regards to student achievement?
  - 3. What does each group perceive as the benefits of SSI?
  - 4. What does each group perceive as weaknesses of SSI?
  - 5. What does each group perceive as barriers to making greater gains in student achievement? (internal and external)
  - 6. What changes would each group make to improve the SSI?
- 7. If given the opportunity, would teachers and principals make the same decisions about working in an SS school?
- 8. What factors/ characteristics did principals use to select SS staff and teachers use to decide to accept a SS position?
- 9. How effective are the Professional Learning Communities (PLC)'s in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?
  - 10. What level of flexibility do teachers have in designing lessons?
- 11. What instructional decisions have had the biggest impact on student achievement?

The following questions used school-based measures of effectiveness to describe changes before and after SSI implementation. The following questions were examined:

- 1. How has the school's value added scores in math and reading changed from before to after SSI?
- 2. How has the Days of Instruction measure in math and reading changed from before to after SSI?

#### 1.4 Significance of Study

To date, there has been limited research that focuses specifically on the Strategically Staffed Initiative and all that has been done was in cooperation with the

district's research and evaluation department. No published research has been released since June 2011, when the first cohort of SS schools completed the three-year cycle that provides funding for the initiative. The results of this study will provide additional information about the effectiveness of the Strategic Staffing Initiative as it relates to improving student achievement. The findings are important for ABC leaders and other reformers across the nation, who are interested in this or a similar model on whether the money invested in this aspect of the SSI is worth the financial costs. School leaders across the nation may benefit from the results of this study as they seek policies that align with the federally funded Race to the Top initiative, which supports comprehensive school reform models like the SSI.

#### 1.5 Summary

Urban school districts similar to ABC face continuous challenges while trying to provide each student with a quality education. According to research (Borman & Kimball; 2005, Marzano, 2007; and Sanders & Rivers, 1996), teachers are the most important factor in improving student achievement. Like many other urban school districts, ABC has struggled to recruit and maintain top teachers in the lowest performing schools. In an effort to implement comprehensive reforms at its lowest performing schools, ABC has developed and committed resources to its SSI. The first cohort of SSI schools completed its three-year cycle in June 2011, which makes this study timely to explore the impact that the SS staff had on improving the achievement levels in math and reading in the SS schools.

Chapter Two will examine school reform at the macro and micro levels. The chapter begins with a review of philosophical roots on education as a resource and the

Federal government's role in proving funding as an equalizer to high poverty schools who face additional challenges. The chapter continues with a macro level review of research on effective schools and teachers, and an explanation of emerging value added models. Lastly, a micro level view of the challenges urban schools face is presented through a close examination of the ABC School System's attempt at comprehensive reforms through the SSI.

Chapter Three provides the reader with a detailed description on the methodology for the study. The chapter includes the procedures for selecting participants, the survey questions for each group, and steps taken to ensure trustworthiness of the study. An explanation of the methods for collecting and analyzing the surveys, and value added data are also included.

Chapter Four presents the findings from the surveys. The results of the survey data are presented first by looking at each group separately and then together to look for common themes and patterns. The school effectiveness data is analyzed by each cohort to look for statistical significance in the value added data for the duration of the SSI. Chapter Five provides an explanation for the results of this study and compares it to previous findings. Strengths and limitations of this study are discussed. Finally, recommendations for future research are presented.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

Previous literature regarding school reform in America's public schools over the last fifty years is summarized in this chapter. First, the important role that education plays on an individual's future attainment and social mobility is addressed. Next, a review of the Federal Government's role in supporting the vision to ensure all Americans receive a quality education is examined beginning with the Coleman Report. Americans reacted both positively and negatively to the Coleman report in 1966 which suggested that it is nearly impossible for all students to receive an equal education due to social and economic factors. Since then, the Federal Government has invested heavily in programs and passed legislation that attempt to equalize the quality of education that students receive. Three of the most recent trends in school reform are the implementation of Comprehensive School Reforms (CSR), Turnaround reforms, and using data to identify effective teachers. The findings of current research on these reforms are reviewed with a specific focus on the challenges that urban schools face. The chapter concludes with a closer look at one school district, ABC, and their attempt to implement a comprehensive school reform known as the Strategic Staffing Initiative.

#### 2.1 Education and Society

A study by H. Johnson (2008) interviewed 260 parents and not one of them claimed that schools in America were actually equal. When asked what factors determined whether a school was good or not the parents overwhelmingly responded that

the most important factor was the demographics of the neighborhood where the school was located. One parent explained his response by stating "the more money you have, the better the neighborhood you live in. The better the neighborhood, the more taxes, the better the school. Your kid goes where you live" (p. 277). According to H. Johnson, the importance of where an individual lives (geographically) has become more important in the last fifteen years with the removal or easing of many court ordered desegregation plans that were enacted in the seventies as a result of the *Brown* decision. In the mid-1990's, many courts began to lift the mandatory desegregation student assignment plans that required schools to be racially balanced by declaring districts "unitary." School districts that met "unitary status" no longer were required to consider race when creating student assignment plans. Since then, the Supreme Court (*Parents Involved in Community Schools v. Seattle School District* and *Meredith v. Jefferson County Board of Education*, 2007) has gone even further to forbid schools to consider the race of individual students when creating student assignment plans (Walsh, 2007).

O. Johnson (2008) argues that the parents' responses on the importance of having a school in a "good neighborhood" are aligned with research that focuses on the varying achievement levels in education. He argues that where one lives is more important than race or socioeconomic class. He points to research by the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) that indicates that the largest achievement gap is not according to race, or family socioeconomic status, but along the dimension of place.

Ashton and Green (1996) believe that the inability of social classes to improve their conditions will have an effect on the United States position in the world and is a result of the inequalities in schools. Lewis (2007) agrees, and argues that "the extreme

polarization of the labour force is mirrored by considerable inequities in the quality of school provision, and relatively severe educational problems among its young college dropouts" (p.332). A similar conclusion was reached by the US Commission on Civil Rights ("Economic Stagnation," 2005) who examined why the number of black middle class families has not increased. They concluded that the primary problem was rooted in the structure and student assignment plans of schools.

As a result, many school districts like ABC have become increasingly resegregated and achievement gaps among schools have widened. Research has also indicated that higher income groups are much more likely than lower income and minority groups to take advantage of school choice options that may give them an opportunity to attend a better school (Johnson O., 2008). Nationally, the differences between low poverty suburban schools and high poverty urban schools are becoming more apparent. As discussed earlier, students who attend high poverty schools are much less likely to perform on grade level, graduate from high school, or attend a four year college (Digest of Education Statistics, 2010).

## 2.2 Philosophical Roots

The connection between education and future occupational attainment is not new and can be traced to the views of conflict theorists, particularly Max Weber. Weber believed that conflicts in society exist due to the scarcity of resources and the inequalities between social classes that result from scarcity. Weber divided his beliefs on social class into three unique groups: class, status, and party. Class can be defined as "a group having the same 'causal component of life chances'" (Weber in Lemert, 2004, p.116). Class situation is determined "by the life chances that a class has when an individual sell

their skills and abilities on the market in change for salaries and incomes with which they obtain goods and services" (Weber in Lemert, 2004, p.116). Weber described two types of class situations: one was determined by property ownership, and the other was based on educational credentials. Weber argued that an individual's ability to improve his life economically was dependent on the ownership of property and the skills he possesses. Weber's definition of resources goes beyond physical resources such as money and property and includes status and educational credentials. According to Weber, the power to change an individual's class situation through education caused a shift in the power that wealth played in individuals, and societies. Education is a skill that Weber believed could lead to a bettered life because the more educated an individual is the more likely they are to obtain a job that can improve their income (Weber in Lemert, 2004).

As with any valuable resource, those individuals who have the power try to limit the access to education in an attempt to keep its value. In the United States, individuals cannot limit access to education since it is a public government function, so instead they focus on ways to give their children a competitive edge in the educational credentials market. The pressure to increase the educational credentials of individuals has affected the structure of schools, curricula decisions and individual students, and has created a unique situation of conflicting views on social mobility. According to Hogan (1996)

At one level, Americans embrace education because social mobility and the meritocratic project remain at the heart of the American dream of 'bettering our condition' and social approbation. Yet, at another level, they are compelled to embrace education because of the opportunity for social mobility and status for most Americans is heavily dependent on the market value or comparative advantage of their educational credentials (p. 252).

Hogan describes the feelings of Americans who believe that public education is important for all of society to improve, but also realizes on an individual level that in

order to be competitive in the future they must receive a better education than everyone else. H. Johnston (2008) argues that historically, education in America has been viewed as the "great equalizer" and that "if you work hard enough in school, then you can be anything, do anything, rise up to any level of you choose" (p. 274). Unfortunately, today there are vast differences in the quality of schools that make it difficult to ensure that every student receives the same educational opportunities.

Weber also believed that status groups play a role in educational outcomes. Weber defines status groups as social groups that are not influenced by the market and are mostly based on the pursuit of specific life styles and the habits of taste that qualify members of a group for distinction based on their standing or status (Weber in Lemert, 2004). Status groups for some communities may be stratified based on educational qualifications. Reformers today cite Weber's theories on status to support their views on the need to make comprehensive school reforms and point to the vast inequalities among "high" status schools and "lower" status schools. Collins (2000) presents a similar argument and believes that the US has created a "contest mobility" school system where the status value of American education has become diluted. Collins argues that as more people achieve higher levels of education, the bar is raised as to what is considered an appropriate level of education for each status level. Thus the need for "lower" status students to have access to "elite" schools is growing increasingly important.

## 2.3 Challenges of High Poverty Schools

High poverty schools face even more daunting challenges than other schools as they attempt to meet Federal, state, and local requirements with students who are often several grades levels behind their peers academically. The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) differentiates low and high poverty schools by the number of students who qualify for free and reduced price lunch (FRPL) program. High poverty schools are defined as public schools where more than 75 % of the students are eligible. According to NCES, in 2008-2009 approximately 22% of elementary students and 8% of secondary students attended high poverty schools (Aud et al., 2011).

The NCES data indicates that there is an uneven distribution of students who attend high poverty schools. For example, while 54% of public school students are White, only 14% of them attend high poverty schools. In comparison, Blacks made up 17% of students overall and 34% of students in high poverty schools, and Hispanics made up 21% of students overall but 45% of students in high poverty schools. Most of the high poverty schools were located in cities as compared to suburban areas (Aud et al., 2011).

The location of schools and student demographics are also related to the quality of teachers in schools. Researchers (Clotfelter, Ladd, Vigdor, & Wheeler, 2006; Jackson, 2009; Jacob, 2007) have found that schools defined as high poverty are much less likely to have fully licensed and effective teachers and are more likely to have teachers who have little or no experience or who have attended a less competitive college or university. According to Federal statistics in the School and Staffing Survey (SASS), 20.3% of teachers in urban districts had three or fewer years of experience, compared to 17.6% in suburban districts (Digest of Education Statistics, 2010). Data collected in North Carolina suggests an even larger gap of more than six percent difference in the same teacher experience data between high and low poverty schools (Clotfelter et al., 2006).

According to Jacob (2007), supply and demand contributes to teacher shortages, especially in urban school districts where there are often teacher vacancies. The 2007 SASS data indicated that 34.7% of central city schools had difficulty hiring a math teacher compared with only 25.1% of suburban schools (Jacob, 2007). Jacob suggests that many teachers prefer to teach in the communities that they grew up in and in areas similar to their hometowns. This leads to more vacancies in urban schools, since most teachers come from suburban areas. He also found that teachers prefer to teach in a school with higher achievement levels, regardless of racial composition.

Jacob's findings are supported by a study done on Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools (CMS) by Jackson (2009). Jackson examined the changing demographics of teachers in CMS beginning in 2003, after the school district ended busing and began assigning students to their neighborhood schools. Jackson's research of CMS found that "schools that had an influx of black students as a result of the policy change had a decrease in the share of high-quality teachers, as measured by years of experience and certification test scores" (p. 215). Jackson concluded that "sorting by student race occurs both across and within teacher race, implying that although teachers' preference for student race may be associated with teacher race, there is substantial heterogeneity in teachers' preference for student race among both white and black teachers" (p. 248). This research indicates that for most teachers, student academic achievement levels are more important than race when deciding to work at a specific school.

The research provides an explanation on the challenges that high poverty schools face in ensuring that every student has an effective teacher. The research by Marzano (2007) suggests teachers have the biggest impact on student achievement. It is critical for

urban school districts like ABC to recruit and retain effective teachers at its high poverty schools.

#### 2.4 The Federal Government's Role in Improving Public Schools

The Federal government's role in helping improve the nation's public schools over the last fifty years has shifted as research emerges on which reforms have the greatest impact on student achievement. The most recent federally-funded school reform initiative was introduced by President Obama and is known as "Race to the Top." These reforms are reflective of the current research that confirms the importance of focusing on whole school reform and having an effective teacher in every classroom.

The Federal Government first recognized the need to improve public schools in 1966 with the release of "The Equal Education Opportunity Survey," also known as the Coleman Report. The Coleman Report was written to provide Congress with an update on the implementation of the educational mandates of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 that sought to guarantee every student equal educational opportunities in all public schools. In his report, Coleman discussed the difficulty of accurately assessing and analyzing school reforms due to the challenges in the measurement of inputs upon different groups. Coleman used teacher salaries as one example when he wrote, "If a teacher salary in a city and the surrounding suburban area are equal they are equal for schools attended by Negroes and schools attended by Whites in the same metropolitan areas, then the city is not competitive in salary, and loses the best teachers to the suburbs" (p.10). Coleman claimed that, because of the differences in inputs, it was not possible for resources to erase the differences in achievement levels across groups such as those between African

American and White students. Instead, Coleman concluded that family background, not the school, was the major determinant of student achievement.

Coleman's findings were and still are widely debated and had two primary effects on individuals and school policy makers' perceptions on schooling in America. First, it questioned the American belief that schools could be viable agents in closing the achievement gap in students due to environmental factors. Second, it called into question the notion that schools have little, if any, relationship with student achievement. The report claimed that schools accounted for only about 10% of the variance in school achievement; the other 90% was accounted for by student background characteristics (Coleman et al., 1966).

On one side, Coleman's supporters agreed that family factors such as poverty or a parent's lack of education impacted a student's achievement level regardless of the method of instruction. Many of the "compensatory education" reforms were based on Coleman and his supporters' belief that reforms should attempt to introduce programs that targeted students of poverty. One example was the Title I programs, as part of the Elementary Secondary Education Act of 1965, that targeted funds to schools from low income families to prevent poverty from being a barrier to academic achievement through extra funds and programs. There was some evidence that this approach worked, as evidenced by the decline in the achievement gap between Whites and Blacks on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) tests in the 1980's (Tyack & Cuban, 1995).

Coleman's findings were a catalyst for other educators who did not agree and were convinced that all students can learn and that the school controls enough of the

factors to ensure students can master the core curriculum (Lezotte, 2009). Researchers such as Ron Edmonds, Wilbur Brookover, and Lawrence Lezotte began to conduct studies that would contradict Coleman's findings by focusing on within school factors that affect student achievement. Their research, which became known as the Effective School Movement (ESM), sought to find pairs of schools with similar size student bodies, similar proportions of minority and poor students and comparable resource inputs, but with one of the schools showing significantly higher levels of student achievement. ESM researchers continuously asked "How did these schools do it?" and "In what ways are these schools different than most other schools serving poor and minority students?" (Lezotte, 2009, p.11). The pinnacle of Edmond's work was his research that led to what he referred to as the five "correlates" or variables that are most strongly connected to student achievement: (a) strong administrative leadership, (b) high expectations for student achievement, (c) an orderly atmosphere conducive to learning, (d) an emphasis on basic skill acquisition, and (e) frequent monitoring of student progress (Marzano, 2001 p. 13). Edmond's correlates became widely popular and led the development of many programs and reforms in the following decade and beyond.

The debate over ensuring that every student received a quality education became the center of attention again in 1983 with the release of the federal report by the National Commission on Excellence in Education entitled "A Nation at Risk." The report examined the quality of elementary and secondary public education and found a "rising tide of mediocrity" that threatened the country's future. The commissioners of the report stated that American students were not receiving a rigorous curriculum and our students were being outperformed by their peers around the world. The report criticized schools

for providing too many remedial courses and having low expectations for students.

Commissioners also pointed to poor teaching and teacher preparations as problems. The commission called for a new public commitment to education reforms that was focused on tougher standards for students and teachers (A Nation at Risk, 1983).

Across the United States, educational leaders and policy makers responded and began to look not only at their curriculum and standards, but also at the structure and organizations of their schools and districts. Many of these changes were systemic in nature and included school-based management and school choice. These reforms were known as Comprehensive School Reform or CSR (Lezotte, 2009).

The concept of systemic reform emerged as educational leaders realized that the previous approaches to educational reforms were not working. According to Smith and O'Day (1991), systemic reform combined two previous waves of educational reforms. The first wave from the 1970s to early 1980s focused on expanding and improving educational inputs and ensuring basic skill competency. The second wave spanned the mid-1980s through the end of the decade, and stressed decentralization, teacher professionalism, and bottom up changes. Neither of the approaches produced the desired results. Consequently, reformers began to focus on systemic reforms that focused on three major efforts: challenging standards for students, the alignment of the policy components of educational governance, and school flexibility to develop the strategies to best suit the needs of their students (Supovitz, & Taylor, 2005). The expansion and implementation of systemic change became synonymous with standards-based reforms and standards-based accountability. At the school level, these systemic reforms were labeled comprehensive school reform (CSR).

The Federal Government first supported systemic reforms with the Federal Goals 2000: Education America Act of 1994 as part of the reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. The comprehensive reform model was a marked change from the piecemeal approach that had dominated federal legislation in the past. Research done in the early 1990's indicated that the previous model of site-based management was not as effective as once thought because schools failed to develop coherent statements of beliefs or models for guiding the work and decision making (Borman et al., 2003). For example, Title I funds, which provided extra funds to high poverty and at-risk students and schools since the 1960's, were found to have a limited impact on whole schools because of the categorical and uncoordinated approach. So, while a small number of students may have benefited from the Title I initiated programs, the overall impact on schools and communities was negligible.

In 2001, President George W. Bush announced major federal educational reforms with the introduction of the "No Child Left Behind" (NCLB) Act. The legislation called for increased accountability for states, school districts, and schools, greater choice for parents and students attending low performing schools, more flexibility for states to use federal education dollars, and stronger emphasis on reading in the early grades (NCLB Act, 2001). NCLB also called for every student to be taught by a "highly qualified" teacher. Teachers would have to provide documentation that they had met the requirements needed to be certified in the grades and content areas they taught. As a result of NCLB, states and districts developed standardized tests to measure student proficiency, and began to focus on subgroups such as Exceptional Children and Limited English Proficiency (LEP). Schools that failed to meet the state standards for more than

three years in a row faced sanctions or a restructuring plan (NCLB Act, 2001). NCLB was heavily criticized for not focusing on teacher quality and punishing the lowest performing schools for not meeting their proficiency goals despite showing increases in student growth.

In the spring of 2011, Secretary of Education Arne Duncan estimated that 82% of the public schools in the United States could be labeled as failing under the NCLB legislation. Duncan criticized NCLB and said; "This law has created dozens of ways for schools to fail and very few ways to help them succeed. We should get out of the business of labeling schools as failures and create a new law that is fair and flexible, and focused on the schools and students most at risk" ("Duncan Says 82", 2010). In response to the failures of NCLB, Secretary Duncan and President Obama introduced "Race to the Top" (RTT) legislation as part of the reauthorization of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) of 2009. The RTT provided funds beginning in 2010. The RTT legislation requires states and school districts to focus on four areas: (a) improving teacher and principal effectiveness to ensure every school has a great leader, (b) providing information to families to help them evaluate and improve their children's schools, and to help educators to help them improve their students' learning, (c) implementing college and career ready standards and developing improved assessments aligned with those standards, and (d) improving student learning and achievement in America's lowest performing schools by providing intensive support and effective interventions("Blueprint for Reform", 2010).

The RTT funds support the need for comprehensive school reforms that allow school district leaders to create comprehensive reform programs and initiatives that meet

the needs of their specific students. The new focus on teacher and principal effectiveness is aligned with the emerging research on the important impact that teachers have on student achievement.

The current federal mandates and legislation have clearly focused on reforms in two main areas: comprehensive reforms and teacher effectiveness. The following two sections will review the current research on the impact that these two reform strategies have on school improvement and student achievement.

#### 2.5 Comprehensive School Reform

While research (Rowan & Miller, 2007; Johnston, 2002) suggests that school districts and individual schools that undergo CSR programs are highly motivated to improve the quality of the school, district leaders and principals face a number of problems as they attempt to implement reforms. One of the biggest obstacles is that school districts and schools fail to realize the influence of external policies and internal practices on schools. According to Johnston (2002):

What we find in school-level efforts to implement comprehensive reform is the relative absence of explicit consideration of the influence of external policy on school practices and relative absence of application of system perspectives during reform efforts. The consequence is that almost without exception, and contrary to principles of comprehensive reform design, initial school improvement efforts remained a relatively disjointed assemblage of programs and practices (p. 206).

Johnston refers to this dilemma as the "presence of an absence" (p.206) and warns of the difficult task that researchers face when trying to evaluate the effectiveness or impact of comprehensive reforms.

Research by Mac Iver (2004) examined the effectiveness of one of the earliest and largestscale attempts at CSR as part of the New American Schools (NAS) project. The project began in 1995 and included major urban school districts including Miami-Dade,

Memphis, San Antonio, Pittsburgh, Philadelphia, San Diego, and several districts in the states of Washington, Maryland, and Kentucky. Each of the participating districts agreed to implement CSR models in at least 30% of their schools over a five-year period. Each of the districts used different processes to select a nationally approved CSR model and used their own discretion in determining which schools would participate. The freedom of the districts to make these decisions made it difficult to compare the results due to great variances in school achievement levels, demographics, size, and selection of different models and strategies. Despite the variances, MacIver's findings suggest widespread differences in the level of effectiveness, and highlight the strengths of the more successful schools. Among the most important factors were stable leadership, flexibility, and support in resource allocation from the district and central office in sustaining implementation of NAS models at schools.

Implementation of reforms varies from school to school because not all schools are at the same level in their organizational development. For example, in some schools, structures for collaboration and communication may already be in place for participatory decision-making. In other schools, teachers may not have had any role in decision making, and therefore are not as familiar with what is needed beyond their own classrooms (MacIver, 2004; Wetherall & Applefield, 2004). Mac Iver and Balfanz (2000) compare schools attempting to implement CSR reforms to small businesses, and argue that urban schools, like small businesses, are as likely to fail as to succeed due to lack of resources (especially human resources), lack of technical knowledge about effective curriculum and instruction, and unstable operating environments (teacher and principal mobility). Because of the high risk factors of individual schools, it is critically

important that school district central office leaders provide schools with the necessary infrastructure that ensures each school attempting CSR with the following: (a) continual professional development, (b)in-class implementation support for reform models, (c)organizational assistance (building level effective structures like professional learning communities, providing budget information early, minimizing last minute policy and staffing changes and adequate time for teachers to work collaboratively), and (d) productive use of data.

Due to the complex and overlapping needs listed above, it is essential that educators in multiple departments or divisions within the central office work collaboratively to meet the site-based needs and goals of each school attempting student achievement reform. Failure to do so will almost certainly result in little or no growth in student achievement.

MacIver's recommendations align with previous research (Graczweski, Loeb, Goldhaber, Staiger, Raundenbush & Whitehurst, 2007; Minthrop & Trujillo, 2005; Wetherill & Applefield, 2004) that suggests there is no single strategy that has been universally successful with schools implementing CSR strategies, but there are certain components that are critical to implementing any systemic reform. Most significantly, there must be ownership and buy-in from all stakeholders, particularly teachers. Ideally, the process of choosing and developing a reform model should be done over an extended period, with ample time for input from teachers.

Research (Graczweski et al., 2007; Rowan & Miller, 2007; Wetherall & Applefield, 2004) reveals the importance of a strong principal for schools attempting systemic reforms. As the leader of the school and agent of change, the principal must

skillfully navigate all stakeholders through the reform process. As leaders, principals must be both flexible to change and resistant to critics who refuse to support the reforms. Principals must guide the staff in professional development that is critical to improving student achievement. In an evaluation of his school's CSR reforms, a principal noted the challenges of getting the support of teachers by saying that teachers believe "they can outlast any principal" and make it difficult to get them to change their practices (Wetherall & Applefield, 2004).

#### 2.6 Turnaround School Reform

Another approach to improving chronically low-performing schools is known as the "turnaround schools" model. Turnaround schools are defined as schools that have a high proportion of students failing to meet state standards of proficiency in mathematics or reading as defined under NCLB for two or more consecutive years (Herman et al., 2008). Turnaround models differ from CSR in that the turnaround model attempts to make quick, dramatic improvements within three years, while CSR makes change in a more incremental manner and has longer, three to five year implementation plans (Herman et al., 2008). The two approaches can be very similar in their strategies but differ in the implementation. For example, in CSR, school leaders may focus more on professional development to existing staff to build the capacity of teachers over a longer period of time, while in a turnaround school, a principal may have to hire and train a small group to implement and lead change immediately.

The national clearinghouse "What Works," supported by the U.S. Department of Education, reviewed previous studies on turnaround schools and made four broad recommendations. The guide is clear that each of the recommendations has shown only

modest results and that the research on turnaround schools is limited in scope and validity. The authors narrowed their findings down to four recommendations: (a) signal the need for dramatic change with strong leadership, (b) maintain a consistent focus on improving instruction, (c) make visible improvements early in the school turnaround process, and (d) build a committed staff (Herman et al., 2008). The authors conclude that there is no one approach for implementing these strategies, but that each school needs to consider the specific characteristics and needs of its school and adjust accordingly.

Other research on turnaround schools indicates that the schools that have shown sustained success stressed similar aspects of reform. Daniel Duke (2006), a well-known researcher on turnaround schools, examined five different studies that examined the reform efforts of turnaround schools across the nation. Duke found eleven characteristics in the turnaround schools that showed success: assistance, collaboration, data-driven decision making, leadership, organizational structure, staff development, alignment, assessment, high expectations, parent involvement, and scheduling. Duke admits that simply focusing on these areas of reform will not guarantee success but are important to take into account when considering reforms.

Research by Duke, Tucker, Salmonowicz, and Levy (2007) also studied the similarities between turnaround schools and drew several conclusions to help guide future reforms. First, the researchers found that there is not one leadership style that is more effective than another. For example, in one school a more authoritative style may be needed while a more distributive style may be successful in another setting. Duke et al. (2007) concluded that no matter the leadership style, almost all turnaround school principals identified four major challenges; student achievement and behavior, staffing,

school system concerns, and parents and community. In the study, the principals ranked school programs and organizations issues most frequently, including concerns about ineffective instruction, data deprivation, lack of teamwork, and ineffective scheduling. In regard to staffing, the principals identified two major areas of concern: problems with the competence of staff members and lack of specialists in key areas. The principals found it difficult to dismiss ineffective teachers and to recruit specialists in the areas of reading and math, making it difficult to provide staff with the support and professional development that was needed to improve instruction.

Duke (2006) also stresses the importance of pinpointing the personnel problems. Duke encourages school leaders to think closely about why students are not achieving. Principals need to ask questions such as: Is the reason for low student achievement the instructor or the instructional program or intervention strategy? At what point does a principal decide that the efforts to work with a teacher to make them better not worth the time and energy? Are there teachers who have been able to adjust and improve their teaching in the same school with the new turnaround efforts and what makes them successful and not others?

The findings of the research presented on turnaround schools stress that there is no one answer or strategy that has shown absolute success. It is imperative that district officials and school leaders work together to develop a model that works, not for every school, but that has the flexibility to address the differences in each school. The need for school districts and individual schools to effectively implement lasting comprehensive schools reforms is becoming increasingly important as the Federal Government continues

to support such initiatives as Race to the Top that provide school leaders with flexibility to do so.

#### 2.7 Previous Research on Teacher Effectiveness

One of the most comprehensive reviews of school reform efforts and the impact of teachers was conducted by Robert Marzano (2001) and included over 30 years of research. In his meta-analysis study, he examined national and international studies that focused on CSR efforts at the school, and teacher level characteristics that could be implemented without drastic changes in resources or personnel. He began by examining the Coleman report and attempted to answer the following questions: What have school reformers learned since then? Is the picture of schooling more positive now? His findings indicate that there is ample evidence in the last four decades of research "that schools can and do make a powerful difference in the academic achievement of students" (p. 2). Marzano focused on several categories of research, including the school effectiveness movement, classic synthesis studies, the school-level effect, the teacher-level effect, and the student-level effect. For the purposes of this paper, only his findings on the effective school movement and the teacher-level effect will be discussed.

The first area Marzano examined was the school effectiveness movement. Based on early research by Edmonds (1979), Rutter (1979), Kittgaard and Hill (1974), Brookover et al. (1978) and case studies by Brookover and Lezotte (1979), Marzano concluded that that there were fairly consistent findings regarding the characteristics of highly effective schools. In the end, Edmond's five correlates of effective schools were positive identifiers for schools where students performed better than expected based on students socio-economic status (SES) (Edmond, 1979).

Marzano's research on teacher-level effect considered variables that are under the control of individual teachers regardless of the context provided by the school: "those things a teacher might do to enhance student achievement no matter what the school's position is about monitoring student achievement, providing a positive climate, and so on" (2001, p.58). These factors include instructional strategies, curriculum design, and classroom management. Marzano pointed to previous research by Springfield and Teddlie (1989), Bosker (1992), Luyten (1994), Wright, Horn, and Sanders (1997), and Madause et al (1979) to conclude that teacher effect has a greater impact on student achievement than school effect. The most widely accepted study to support these findings was the Tennessee Value Added System (TVASS) study, which revealed that teachers have more impact than school, heterogeneity, class size, and achievement levels. These findings combined with the other research suggest that "a realistic yet somewhat conservative estimate appears to be a ratio of 2 to 1 in favor of teachers (versus school)" (Marzano, 2001, p. 62).

The need to accurately evaluate the effectiveness of teachers is critical because of the impact they have on school reform. According to Darling-Hammond (2009), the increasing focus on teacher effectiveness makes sense when analyzing school reform because "there are no policies that can improve schools if the people in them are not armed with the knowledge and skills they need" (p. 1).

In recent years, policy makers and education leaders have begun to move away from traditional measures of teacher qualifications based on factors such as certification, experience, advanced degrees, and performance on content tests to a model that evaluates teachers on actual performance and effectiveness of increasing student achievement.

Darling-Hammond (2009) distinguishes the differences between previous research that focused on *teacher quality* and current research focuses on *teaching quality*. She describes teacher qualities as what "teachers are expected to be and do" (p.2). For example, some teacher qualities include; strong general intelligence, knowledge of content, understanding of learners and learning, and adaptive expertise. The abovementioned characteristics support student learning, and have been incorporated into educational institutions and state licensing requirements such as NCLB.

Darling-Hammond describes *teaching qualities* as the "teachers' knowledge, skills, and dispositions - but is also strongly influenced by the context of instruction" (2009, p.3). A "high quality" teacher may not be successful in all situations. Teachers may be asked to teach subjects with which they are not comfortable, or to be in a school where there is no opportunity to plan with other teachers.

Research by Jacob and Lefgren (2008) examined principals' ability to accurately identify and distinguish highly effective and less effective teachers based on observations and other data sources included in teacher evaluations. The principals were asked to rate each teacher on a scale from 1 (inadequate) to 10 (exceptional). The principals had to rank the teachers not only on overall effectiveness but also on other characteristics such as dedication and work ethic, classroom management, parent satisfaction, and ability to raise math and reading achievement. The ratings indicated very little variance among teachers in each school. Jacob and Lefgren compared the ratings with each teacher's value-added score and found some surprising results. The correlation between the principal ratings and teacher value-added scores suggests that while principals can accurately identify the very bottom and top performing teachers, they are not able to

distinguish the abilities of teachers in the middle. These findings are significant with the knowledge that "moving a student from an average teacher to a teacher one standard deviation above the mean would result in roughly a 2-3 percentile point increase in test scores" (p. 112). The findings of Jacob and Lefgren are not unique, and signal the need to find another way to evaluate teachers in addition to test scores and principal evaluations.

One of most comprehensive reports on school leaders' ability to accurately identify effective teachers was released in 2009 by the federally funded New Teacher's Project. The findings of the report, known as the "widget effect," reflect the survey responses of approximately 15,000 teachers and 1,300 administrators from four states and 12 districts that vary in size and demographics. The survey focused on the formal teacher evaluation methods used in each state. The findings reinforced the call by many educators for a new approach to evaluating teachers with five major flaws in current teacher evaluations. The first finding was that "all teachers are rated good or great." In districts that use binary evaluation ratings (i.e., satisfactory or unsatisfactory), more than 99% of teachers received a satisfactory rating. In districts with a broader range, 94% of teachers received the two top ratings. The second finding stated that "excellence goes unrecognized." Due to the extremely high number of teachers being highly rated, teachers say that district officials are not doing enough to recognize, compensate, promote, and retain the most truly effective teachers. The authors argued that another flaw was "inadequate professional development." Districts that fail to accurately define effective and ineffective teachers are not able to provide the needed professional development for their districts. Only 45% of teachers agreed that the professional development offered to them was helpful. The next major finding was "no special

attention to novices." Despite the research that recognizes that new teachers in their first three years are less effective, 66% of novice teachers received a rating better than standard on their evaluations. The last claim was that "poor performance goes unaddressed." Teachers and administrators overwhelmingly (81% and 58% respectively) admitted that they know of at least one tenured teacher who performs poorly in school. Too often, these teachers are not addressed, especially in higher poverty schools. District records show that at least half of the districts studied did not dismiss a single non-tenured teacher for poor performance in the last five years (Weisberg, Sexton, Mulher, & Keeling, 2009).

The authors of the 'Widget Effect' made several recommendations, including adopting a comprehensive performance evaluation system that fairly, accurately, and credibly differentiates teachers based on their effectiveness in promoting student achievement, and integrating the performance evaluation system with critical human capital policies and functions such as teacher assignment, professional development, compensation, retention, and dismissal.

#### 2.8 Teacher Value Added Models

Alarming findings, such as those found in the Widget Effect report and the new guidelines for accurately assessing teachers required as part of the Race to the Top, have propelled educational researchers and school district leaders to begin looking at using "value added models." Value added models are similar to the to *teaching qualities* described by Darling-Hammond in that they acknowledge teachers' contributions to students' progress, taking into account where the student starts and many other factors that are beyond the control of the teacher but are known to impact student learning.

The earliest research on teacher effectiveness using a value added score was based on the Tennessee Value-Added Assessment System (TVASS) initiative which began in 1992. The TVASS model, designed with the support of the state leaders, aimed to determine the effectiveness of school systems, schools, and teachers in producing academic growth in students (Sanders & Horn, 1998). The TVASS model uses a statistical, mixed-model theory and methodology to create a multivariate, longitudinal analysis of student achievement data. The primary purpose of the TVASS model is to provide information "regarding how effective a school system or teacher has been in leading students to achieve normal academic gain over a three-year period" (Sanders & Horn 1998). Two studies (Wright et al., 1997; Sanders & Rivers, 1996) used the TVASS model to investigate the effects of teachers, intra-classroom homogeneity, and class size on academic gains and found that "the teacher effect is highly significant in every analysis and has a larger effect size than any other factor in the twenty of thirty analyses" (Wright et al., 2010, p.65-66). Sanders and Rivers conclude that the impact of a teacher has a residual effect, as "both very effective and ineffective teachers were measured two years later, regardless of the effectiveness of teachers in later grades" (p.6).

More current research (Glazerman et al., 2010; Hanushek & Rivkin 2008; Hill et al., 2010; and Sass et al., 2010) suggests that the value added model is a reliable method of comparing teachers in different settings equally. Hill, Kapitula, and Umpland (2010) used a mixed method approach, combining classroom observations with quantitative value added data, and concluded that the value added models "do carry a 'signal' about the quality of classroom instruction and thus may be valuable and relatively inexpensive tools" (p. 826). All of the current researchers (Glazerman et al., 2010; Hanushek &

Rivkin 2008; Hill et al., 2010; and Sass, Hannaway, Xu, Figlio & Feng, 2010) warn against using the value added model as the sole measure of to how to accurately evaluate teachers, but believe that the data produced can help leaders make decisions that can have a significant impact on improving student achievement.

Sass et al. (2010) focused their research on value added and its impact on high poverty schools. Sass et al. conducted a study using data from Florida and North Carolina to compare the differences in teacher effectiveness ratings in high and low poverty schools. They concluded that there was little difference in average teachers between and higher and lower poverty schools, but "significantly great variation in effectiveness among teachers working in high poverty schools" (p. 19). The data indicate that the best teachers are similar in higher and lower poverty schools but that the least effective teachers in high poverty schools are far less effective than those in lower poverty schools. The results are a cause for concern for district leaders who know that students in higher poverty schools are most often the students who struggle the most.

## 2.9 ABC School District's Reform Efforts

The ABC school district is one of the country's largest school districts, with over 135,000 students enrolled in grades kindergarten through twelve. The annual operating budget is approximately \$1.15 billion for 178 schools ("CMS About Us," nod.). The ABC district has a unique history of student assignment plans with its role in the Supreme Court case *Swann v. Charlotte Mecklenburg* (1971) that allowed busing to be used to desegregate schools. In 1972, as a result of the *Swann* ruling, ABC created a student assignment plan that used busing to create racially balanced schools. Under the plan, no school population in ABC was to be more than 50% black, and all students were

to share the burden of busing. Teachers were also reassigned to schools based on their race to equalize teacher demographics (Jackson, 2009).

For the next twenty years, ABC did not make any major changes to its student assignment plan. The next major change came in 1992, when newly appointed Superintendent John Murphy established a new magnet program as part of a larger student assignment plan that focused on controlled choice. The plan came partly as a response to a changing population in the city. During the early 1990's, the city emerged as a new leader in banking and technology, creating thousands of new jobs. Business leaders, realizing the importance of good schools in recruiting workers, began to put pressure on school leaders to improve the quality of schools and end the forced busing plan (Mickelson, 1999). When business leaders such as Hugh McColl, president of a major bank declared "our schools aren't good enough," community and school leaders began to listen and demand change (Smith, 1997, p. 257). Parents were also concerned about the increasing amount of time students spent on buses. Due to the expanding population, new neighborhoods were being developed further from the city. Most of these neighborhoods were racially divided and required some students to spend two hours a day on a bus to attend a racially balanced school (Gaillard, 1999).

The new student assignment plan unanimously approved by the ABC Board of Education was based on the court ordered guidelines of maintaining a fifty percent black student population at high schools, and elementary schools maintaining a black population that does not exceed the K-6 system-wide ratio, plus 15 % (Magnet Assistance Program Enrollment, 1995). The student assignment plan was considered a "living document" that could be adjusted regularly to meet changing needs of the community.

The business community was pleased with the new plan, and praised the magnet program as innovative (Smith, 1997).

The student assignment plan remained intact until 1997, when William Capacchoine, a parent of a student, sued ABC, claiming that his daughter was denied acceptance in a magnet school because she was white. Soon other parents joined the suit and asked the courts to declare ABC "unitary," meaning that the school district had met the requirements of desegregation and no longer had to consider race when creating student assignment plans. Attorneys from the *Swann* case announced in October 1997, that they would join the case to fight the Capacchione suit, saying that the school system had not fully desegregated and should not be released from court-ordered desegregation (*Swann v. Charlotte Mecklenburg*, 1971). In March 1998, U.S. District Judge Robert Potter reactivated the *Swann* case and consolidated it with Capacchione's suit. Two months later, six parents joined the case saying that race-based policies influenced everything from how students were assigned, to where schools were built. The parents argued that the schools were fully desegregated and continued use of race-based policies was unconstitutional ("CMS About Us," n.d.).

In 1999, the Federal courts ruled in favor of the parents and required that the district stop using race in any of its official actions. Judge Potter accused school officials of "standing in the schoolhouse door and turning students away from its magnet programs based on race" (Gaillard, 1999, p. 246). The 4<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals upheld the decision in 2001, and a year later, ABC created a new student assignment plan that was based on neighborhood schools with no consideration of race.

ABC's new plan was highly publicized, with the local paper declaring the system "on the path of radical, revolutionary change" (Smith & Mickelson, 2000). The new plan divided the district into four attendance zones with mixed demographics. Each student would be assigned to a "home school" with the option of attending any other school in the district if space was available. Although district officials believed the student assignment plan to be equitable by allowing all students to choose their own schools, not everyone agreed. Parents of black students complained that their students often did not get their first choice, whereas white students did. This occurred because most white students choose their home schools, as they were more likely to have qualified teachers and better resources. When black students applied to those schools they were told that they were full, and they were forced to remain in their home schools. Data from test scores in the 2002 and 2003 school year reveal that the new policy "increased socioeconomic and ethnic sorting among students and amplified the differences in testscore gaps among different sets of students" (Godwin, Leland, Baxter, & Southworth, 2006, p. 991). As expected, inner city schools saw drastic increases in the percentage of minority students and students with low socioeconomic status (SES), while the suburbs saw the opposite. The effects of this soon became apparent with major changes in student achievement in schools whose demographics saw an increase in the number of economically disadvantaged students. At the end of the 2005-2006 school year, seven ABC elementary and middle schools had proficiency rates below 45% and were designated as low performing schools by the NC Department of Public Instruction ("The ABC of Public Education," n.d.). The following year, the district hired a new

superintendent, Dr. Peter Gorman, who began to explore reform options to improve student achievement at the district's lowest achieving schools.

## 2.10 ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative

At the time Peter Gorman became the superintendent of ABC in 2006, roughly a third of schools had slowing or negative achievement levels compared to the last five years. As a first step to addressing these issues, Gorman assigned a team of the district's top administrators to analyze the characteristics and practices in the lowest performing schools to see what could be done to improve them. Gorman and other ABC leaders approached the need for change through a comprehensive school reform lens. The main focus of the Strategic Staffing Initiative (SSI) was to provide struggling schools with strong principal leadership, and the resources needed, including teachers, to improve student achievement (Pulliam, Tingle, & Schoeneberger, 2010). The ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative is aligned with the research previously presented in this paper that stresses the importance of having strong principals who have the flexibility to make reforms that meet the needs of their individual schools, including decisions about personnel, curriculum, professional development, and school goals (Graczweski et al., 2007; Rowan & Miller, 2007; Wetherall & Applefield, 2004).

In order to truly address the needs at the lowest performing schools, Gorman and the district leaders formed a Strategic Staffing Team that was made up of principals, teachers, and other district leaders. The Strategic Staffing Team realized that in order for real reform to take place, the district would have to commit to several "cycle-breakers" in current district practices and policies. These included: (a) strong leaders who build high expectations and ownership, (b) effective teachers with proven track records, (c)

collaborative teacher teams, (d) removal of teachers who would hinder reform, and (e) expertise and resources to serve students who have fallen behind their peers (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

The Strategic Staffing Team also established several principles to follow: (a) schools must receive support over a period of time to ensure sustained growth, (b) "one size does not fit all" among low-performing schools, (c) different characteristics might require different strategies, (d) strategies must align with district priorities and state requirements, and (e) strategies should incorporate lessons from national and ABC best practices (Travers & Christiansen, 2010 p.5).

Following their own recommendations, Gorman and his team decided that more needed to be done to improve academic achievement at low performing schools. From the beginning, Gorman firmly believed that the principal and strong teachers could be the key change agents. Out of this belief and the "cycle breakers," the district introduced the Strategic Staffing Initiative (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

Gorman again assembled a team of district leaders and educators to determine the criteria for the first cohort of schools that would be designated as "Strategically Staffed" (SS). The team decided to focus mostly on the lowest performing elementary schools and a minimum number of middle schools. Most of the schools had already been identified by the NCLB sanctions as failing (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

## 2.10.1 Developing ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative

The Strategic Staffing Team established the criteria for selecting principals.

Realizing that the ultimate goal for these schools was to improve student achievement, the decision was made that in order to be considered for a SS principal position, a

principal must have shown gains in student achievement that demonstrated over a year's worth of growth in a year's worth of instruction. The selected principals would also have to commit to staying at the school for at least three years. Realizing that change and academic gains do not always come quickly, Gorman and the team also made it a priority for principals to know that they would be given the freedom, flexibility, and time to establish a new culture and environment that would foster high academic standards and achievement (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

Next, the team decided on the other staffing positions that each school would receive. The team agreed that the principals should be able to choose their own teams, including an assistant principal, a literacy facilitator, a behavior management technician, and up to five teachers with proven success. Teachers with proven success were defined as "those with successful past summative evaluations and with demonstrated growth in student achievement" (Travers & Christiansen, 2010, p.8). Teachers would also have to make a three year commitment to the school. The team also gave principals the authority to choose as many as five teachers to leave the school for reassignment elsewhere in the district (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

One of the first obstacles Gorman faced was how to "get the right people in the right places." How could he convince principals, teachers, and the community that it was necessary to move highly effective principals and teachers from their current assignments to the lowest performing schools? Gorman did have some flexibility, since North Carolina is a "right to work" state without teacher unions, and School Board policy ("GCKA Instructional Staff Assignments and Transfers," n.d.) gives the superintendent the legal right to make involuntarily reassignments. Gorman, however, realized that

forcing principals and teachers to move could have a negative impact on the effectiveness of the program. As a result, the SS team devised a plan offering incentives to attract principals and other educators to willingly make the switch to a strategically staffed school. According to the plan, principals, assistant principals, and literacy facilitators would receive a 10% pay supplement to their base salaries. Teachers would receive a \$10,000 recruitment bonus with a three year commitment, plus a \$5000 retention bonus in the second and third years (Pulliamet al., 2010).

Gorman and his team worried about how the public would react to the plan. He feared that parents and teachers at schools where the principals were chosen to be strategically staffed would be upset and react negatively, raising questions about "what about my child?" He was also concerned that principals would not take the challenge and would turn down the offer. Despite not knowing the support he would receive, Gorman announced the first seven Strategically Staffed schools and principals in the summer of 2008. To his surprise, each of the principals chosen was excited about the opportunity and immediately accepted the offer (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

Gorman tried to reassure other principals, who may have inherited a weaker teacher who was removed from a Strategically Staffed school, and teachers who may have lost their principals, by saying,

This plan may make life tougher for some principals, who may lose a good teacher or gain a weaker one. But it's important to remember that our struggling schools belong to *all* of us. We are one district and we share our successes and our failures. So all of us must work together as a district to improve our schools and our scores (Travers & Christiansen, 2010, p.11).

With the support of the school board, Gorman was able to move forward with his plan, and he officially launched the first cohort of Strategically Staffed schools in the

summer of 2008. Less than a year later, in March 2009, Gorman announced the second cohort of seven more schools. In January 2011 more schools were added, bringing the total number of strategically staffed schools up to 26. Gorman and the school board announced early on that the success of the program and principals would not be judged for at least three years because of the time it takes to make true systemic changes (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

Table 1 shows the five key components of the SSI and previous research on CSR and turnaround schools. The table indicates that all five of the components are supported by research discussed in this paper earlier.

Table 1 Research that supports the SSI components

SSI Component	Ideas/research that supports component	References
A great leader is needed, a principal with a proven track record of success in increasing student achievement. Also, great teachers will not go to a troubled school without a great leader as a principal.	<ul> <li>Struggling schools need to have effective principals to guide reforms</li> <li>The leadership style of the principal that is needed differs between schools</li> <li>Signal the need for dramatic change with strong leadership</li> <li>Schools need stable leadership to guide reform</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Duke 2006</li> <li>Duke et. al 2007, Herman et. al 2008</li> <li>Mac Iver 2004</li> </ul>
A team needs to go to the school so a person is not along in taking on this challenging assignment; there is strength and support in numbers.	<ul> <li>Turnaround schools struggle to recruit needed specialists</li> <li>Collaboration among teachers is important</li> <li>In order for schools to improve there must be staff members capable of leading the change</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Duke et. al 2007</li> <li>Duke 2006, Duke et. al 2007, Mac Iver&amp;Balfanz 2000</li> <li>Herman et. al 2008, Darling-Hammond 2009</li> </ul>

Table 1 continued Research that supports the SSI components

SSI Component	Ideas/research that supports component	References
Staff members who are not supportive of reform need to be removed from the school.	<ul> <li>High poverty schools have higher numbers of effective teachers</li> <li>Struggling schools need flexibility to dismiss ineffective teachers</li> <li>In order for schools to make meaningful change there must be a committed staff</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Duke 2006, Duke et.al 2007</li> <li>Herman et. al 2008, Graczweski et. al 2007, Rowan &amp; Miller 2007, Wetherall &amp; Applefield 2004</li> </ul>
Principals must be given the time and authority to reform the school, and be freed from the district list of "non-negotiable" that constrain autonomy.	<ul> <li>Schools need flexibility to adjust schedules and structure of school day</li> <li>School leaders must be able to adjust instructional models/approaches</li> <li>Schools need flexibility and support in resource allocation from district officials</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Duke 2006, Duke et.al 2007</li> <li>Duke, 2006, Duke et.al 2007, Herman et. al 2008, Rowan &amp; Miller 2007, Johnston, 2002</li> <li>Mac Iver 2004, Mac Iver&amp;Balfanz 2000</li> </ul>
Not all job assignments are equal in difficulty and compensation should be varied to match.	<ul> <li>Struggling schools have difficulty recruiting effective teachers and specialists</li> <li>Teachers are less likely to take a job at a low achieving school</li> <li>Highly effective teachers have a large impact on student achievement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Audet. al, 2011</li> <li>Jackson 2009</li> <li>Wright et al, 1997, Sanders and &amp; Rivers, 1996, Sass et. al, 2010</li> </ul>

Over the last three years, the SSI has continued to evolve as the success and challenges of the first and second cohorts provide feedback and guidance on improving the reform effort. As of November 2011, there were 26 Strategically Staffed schools and

the initiative is receiving more and more national attention. Table 2 shows the number of schools that have been designated as a Strategically Staffed School each year. In October 2010, Newsweek recognized the SSI as an "ingenious school-turnaround strategy" (Wingert, 2011).

Table 2

Number of ABC Strategically Staffed Schools

Cohort Implementation Date				
June	March	February	January	June
2008	2010	2010	2011	2011 4
7	7	5	3	

# 2.10.2 Early ABC Strategic Staffing Initiative Findings

All twenty six of the Strategically Staffed schools face challenges. Each of the SSI schools had state test scores that were below 50% and as low as 1%, and student bodies whose economically disadvantaged status ranged from 66% to 96% ("School Progress Reports," n.d.). The ABC Center for Research & Evaluation (Schoeneberger & Pulliam, 2010) did a formative evaluation of the SSI after year one and released their most recent interim findings in April 2011 that shared findings of the both the first and second cohort. The research used both qualitative and quantitative methods to analyze the SSI. The study used data from student standardized tests, student attendance/suspension, and teacher survey results. The researchers also interviewed each principal in year one and year two.

To complete their quantitative analysis, Schoeneberger and Pulliam (2011) used a propensity-matching method in order to accurately compare SSI and non-SSI schools.

They used numerous covariates, including gender, race, Limited English Proficiency (LEP), Exceptional Children status (EC), gifted, grade level, age, retention, attendance data, and discipline records. The students in non-SSI schools were treated as a control group. The findings indicate that the proficiency rate on EOGs generally increased or stayed the same across three years in each of the 14 schools in the first two cohorts. Only one school, however, managed to attain a higher level of proficiency in 2009-2010, compared to the average of the comparison school in that same year. The comparison schools were not named in the report.

The interim report compared SS recruited teachers with non-SS staff in regard to student achievement as measured by EOG proficiency and ABC growth rates. The non-SS staff were teachers who were previously teaching in the same school. The comparison linked students to teachers using ABC data files. The proficiency findings for math and reading for the two cohorts does not reveal a clear pattern that SS staff is doing a better job than non-SS staff. For example, in Cohort 1, in year one (2008-2009), the SS staff in six out of seven schools out-performed non-SS staff in math; however, only four out of seven did the same in reading. In their first year of implementation (2009-10), Cohort 2 SS staff did better in only four out of seven schools in both reading and math. The mixed findings are similar when comparing student growth rates of SS staff versus non-SS staff. Generally, the SS staff showed more growth than non-SS staff in math. The growth score for reading for both SS and non-SS staff was extremely low and showed very little difference between growth rates for the two groups.

The findings from Schoenebergerand Pulliam (2011) are important for this study because they attempt to examine the effectiveness of the teacher recruitment aspect of the

SSI. Although the report compared only 57 teachers, the findings suggest that some of the teachers recruited to SS schools may not be as effective as principals and district leaders had hoped. When the SSI initiative began in 2008, the district had limited data on the effectiveness of teachers other than growth and proficiency scores.

The first cohort of seven schools completed their third year in June 2011. There has not been any formal evaluation released on the success of the schools in regard to the SSI. EOG proficiency scores released through the North Carolina Department of Public Instruction indicate that there have been positive increases with each school's math, reading, and science scores ("NC school report cards," n.d.). Table 3 shows the math scores for each school over the last three years. The 2007-2008 data are for the year before the SSI began. Cohort 1 principals began their new jobs in the summer of 2008. The school with the greatest gains in math student achievement increased 39.3%. The smallest gain of the schools showed an increase of 23.4%. The average gain in scores was 29.5% over the three years.

Table 3

Cohort 1 Math EOG Scores Proficiency Averages

07-08	08-09*	09-10	10-11
45.7	57.1	66.0	67.3
43.8	56.8	62.4	67.2
54.2	77.3	81.8	93.5
39.0	64.1	64.9	66.8
30.8	46.8	61.8	61.9
52.4	93.8	81.5	86.4
41.7	54.9		72.0
	45.7 43.8 54.2 39.0 30.8	45.7       57.1         43.8       56.8         54.2       77.3         39.0       64.1         30.8       46.8         52.4       93.8	45.7       57.1       66.0         43.8       56.8       62.4         54.2       77.3       81.8         39.0       64.1       64.9         30.8       46.8       61.8         52.4       93.8       81.5

*Note:* \*It is important to note that the state made a change to the testing polices in 2008-2009 by allowing any student who did not show proficiency on the first test to retake the test. The change resulted in higher scores for most schools across the state ("NC school report cards," n.d.).

Cohort 1 saw similar gains in Reading achievement levels with the seven schools improving by an average of 23.1% during the three years. Reading scores ranged from 37.4% to 73.6%. Table 4 shows that the largest gain was school 6, which improved by over 39 % raising its achievement levels.

Table 4
Cohort 1 Reading EOG Scores

Cohort 1	07-08	08-09*	09-10	10-11
School 1	31.8	41.6	50	56.3
School 2	18.6	36.4	42.3	43.9
School 3	33.9	54.9	54.7	55.3
School 4	32.0	48.9	50.7	52.7
School 5	22.8	35	33.9	37.4
School 6	34.5	59	65.8	73.6
School 7	32.4	43.9	48.3	48.5

*Note:* \*It is important to note that the state made a change to the testing polices in 2008-2009 by allowing any student who did not show proficiency on their first test to retake the test. The change resulted in higher scores for most schools across the state ("NC school report cards," n.d.).

Each of the seven schools also showed positive gains in their Science scores.

North Carolina's public schools did not begin testing until 2008 so there is no data for previous years. Table 5 shows that scores improved from 14.1% at school 1 to over 42% at school 6. The average gain for all schools was 28.5%.

Table 5

Cohort 1 Science EOG Scores

Cohort 1	08-09	09-10	10-11
School 1	33.7	42.9	47.8
School 2	22.2	27.3	48.2
School 3	64.3	81.7	80.7
School 4	32.4	58.1	64.9
School 5	18.3	22.5	56.1
School 6	24.8	39.7	67.2
School 7	24.5	54.2	54.9

("NC school report cards," n.d.)

The EOG scores for the second and third cohorts also indicate overall positive growth. The improvements suggest that the SSI has shown some success in increasing the number of students who pass EOGs over the last three years. The aim of this study is to look beyond the EOG numbers and examine the stakeholders' (teachers and principals) perspective of the SSI. Specifically, the study will focus on the perceived impact of the teachers who were hired as part of the SSI and received the bonus monies.

## 2.11 Summary

While these initial studies show promising results for improving student achievement, further research is needed to understand the impact of SSI. It is important to look beyond the EOG data to gain insight on the opinions and perceptions of the principals and teachers (both SS and non-SS) to learn how they feel about the effectiveness of SSI.

The research presented in chapter two explains many of the challenges that school districts and leaders face in improving student achievement levels. School officials must consider mandates from the Federal Government, such as NCLB, that require schools to meet even higher levels of achievement for all students. High poverty schools struggle even more as they attempt to recruit and retain highly effective teachers. There are no "silver bullets" in regards to reforming schools and implementation of changes require leaders to consider the individual needs of their school and students. ABC has done just that with the development of the SSI that focuses on the district's lowest performing schools. Chapter Three will provide details on the methodology of this study that addresses how successful ABC has been in their implementation of the SSI reform model.

#### **CHAPTER 3: METHOD**

This chapter provides a detailed description of the methodology used to conduct this descriptive study. The chapter begins with the research questions and the purpose of the study. The chapter continues with an explanation of the rationale for the research design, describes information related to sampling, instrumentation, data collection, data analysis procedures and validity issues. The study combines both survey and school effectiveness data to provide an exploratory summary on the perceptions of the SSI process, as well as a descriptive analysis of quantitative trends as they relate to school level effectiveness as defined by the district created value added scores.

## 3.1 Research Questions

The following questions were investigated in this study. The survey questions focused on the perceptions of principals, SS staff, and teachers in the SSI schools. Survey research methods were used to examine these questions. The school effectiveness questions focused on the changes in school effectiveness scores after SSI was implemented.

# 3.1.1 Survey Questions

- 1. What perceived impact did the SS and entire staff have on increasing student achievement?
- 2. What role do teachers have in school wide decision making processes in regards to student achievement?

- 3. What does each group perceive as the benefits of SSI?
- 4. What does each group perceive as weaknesses of SSI?
- 10. What does each group perceive as barriers to making greater gains in student achievement? (internal and external)
- 11. What changes would each group make to improve the SSI?
- 12. If given the opportunity, would teachers and principals make the same decisions about working in an SS school?
- 13. What factors/ characteristics did principals use to select SS staff and teachers use to decide to accept a SS position?
- 14. How effective are the Professional Learning Communities (PLC)'s in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?
  - 10. What level of flexibility do teachers have in designing lessons?
- 12. What instructional decisions have had the biggest impact on student achievement?
- 3.1.2 School Effectiveness Questions
- 1. How has the school's value added scores in math and reading changed from before to after SSI?
- 2. How has the Days of Instruction measure in math and reading changed from before to after SSI?

# 3.2 Research Design Rationale

The research design is a mixed method approach. Mixed method research can be defined as "the collection or analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data in a single study in which the data are collected concurrently, sequentially, are given a priority, and involve the integration of the data at one or more stages in the process of research" (Creswell, Plano Clark, Gutmann, & Hanson, 2003, p. 212). Unlike other research design methods that use only one form of data, mixed methods allows researchers to obtain

results from several sources and gain a deeper understanding of the program of interest (Hanson, Creswell J., Plano Clark, Petska, & Creswell D., 2005).

Mixed method research is based on the philosophy of pragmatism (Hanson et al, 2005; Onwuegbuzie & Johnson, 2006; Johnson, Onwuegbuzie & Turner, 2007). Pragmatic research designs, such as mixed methods, focus on employing approaches that seek "workable solutions through the practice of research to help answer questions that we value and to provide workable improvements in our world" (Onwuegbuzie & Johnson, 2006, p. 54).

Greene, Caracelli, and Graham (1989) argue that there are five purposes for researchers to employ mixed methods designs: (a) triangulation, (b) complementarily, (c) development, (d) initiation, and (e) expansion. Each of the purposes has different characteristics and seeks different outcomes (Green et al., 1989). For this research, the expansion method offers the best approach because the design of the study seeks to increase the scope of knowledge about the SSI by using qualitative data to assess program processes and participants' perceptions of the process and quantitative methods to assess changes in program outcomes.

For the purposes of this study, a concurrent equal priority approach, also known as concurrent nested, was used. The surveys and school effectiveness were collected at the same time and contributed equally in an attempt to expand on existing knowledge of the SSI.

#### 3.3 Research Methods

This section will be divided into two sections. The first section describes the the survey part of the study. The second section describes the school effectiveness effectiveness research method.

## 3.3.1 Survey Method

The study used a survey approach. Surveys are both useful and efficient tools for gaining information about an individual's opinions and behaviors (Dillman, Smyth, & Christian, 2009). The survey was administered via the Internet. Dillman et al. (2009) suggest that participants are more likely to provide substantially longer answers and more detail when surveys are conducted on the Internet than given a paper-and-pen survey.

Participants. In this study, three different surveys were administered to three groups: (a) principals, (b) recruited staff (referred to as SS staff), and (c) staff members who were employed at the school before SSI (referred to as non-SS staff). These groups provided a diverse and comprehensive view of the impact that the SSI has had on improving student achievement.

These three groups were chosen because the philosophy behind the SSI is that schools will be more successful when led by strong principals and when the principals are able to hire a team of teachers (CMS Announces Strategic Staffing, n.d.). Under the SSI, the principals in the study were given the flexibility to recruit and hire the strongest teachers from around the district to support them in leading the change. By including both SS staff and teachers who remained in the schools but were not given bonuses, it is possible to compare perceptions of the two groups of teachers (SS and non-SS).

The sample included participants from schools that are in different phases of implementing the SSI. A total of 26 schools have implemented SSI since 2008. By including participants who have been involved in the SSI for different time periods, the researcher can reveal similarities and differences of perceptions over time. For example, teachers in their first year of implementation may have a different perspective on the impact of the SSI than those who have been a part of it for three years. The five schools that implemented SSI in 2011 were not included due to lack of data. In addition, two schools, one from Cohort 1 and one from Cohort 2 were closed last year. The data from these schools were included, but there were no individuals from these schools included in the survey part of the study. The decision was made not to include the one high school that was designated as SSI, since there are no other schools to compare it to.

The sample size varied among the groups. The surveys were given to all SS principals and SS staff. Of the 21 principals whose schools are included in the study, 17 are still employed in the district. As part of the SSI, each principal was able to hire up to five teachers or staff members using SS funds. Of the staff who received SSI bonuses, 37 are still employed by the district and were invited to participate. Another 285 staff who work in SS schools but did not receive SSI hiring incentives were invited to participate.

Instrumentation. Three surveys were developed and are included in Appendix A. All surveys include a limited number of closed questions that ask the participants for basic demographic information such as years of teaching experience, years in current school, and educational background. The remainder

of the questions were open-ended response, in an attempt to have participants respond to a variety of questions related to the impact that SSI has had on their schools and student achievement. Principals were asked about the factors and data sources they considered when making decisions about selecting SS staff. Principals were also asked to explain the impact that the SS staff had on student achievement. The SS staff and non-SS staff were asked about the challenges they face in regards to student achievement and their role in decision making, and designing lesson plans. All three groups were asked about their perceptions of the strengths and weaknesses of the SSI and the internal and external barriers they face in regards to improving student achievement. Each research question has been aligned with the survey questions to ensure that they are addressed in the study and are in Appendix B.

Procedures. All eligible participants received an email from the Chief Academic Officer of the district asking them to participate in the survey, along with a copy of the invitation letter and a link to the surveys. The invitation letter included a statement of informed consent; by clicking on the survey link they agreed to participate. Each participant was asked to complete the survey, which was designed to take less than twenty minutes. A reminder email was sent to all participants a week later to increase the rate of return.

Data analyses. A thematic approach was used for the qualitative analysis.

Thematic analysis is an inductive approach, where categories are sorted after the data is collected (Izzy, 2002). Data analyses consisted of three linked phases: data reduction, data display, and data conclusions (Miles & Huberman, 1984, 1994). In the data reduction phase, the researcher developed coding and themes for all survey responses.

Separate analyses were done for each survey, and after themes were developed, the researcher examined the themes across the surveys. After the researcher reduced the set of data, a more focused display of data (e.g., structured summary) was developed. The researcher then drew meaning from the displayed data using comparison/contrast, noting patterns, and looking for negative cases.

When conducting qualitative research, it is important to ensure trustworthiness of the project (Shenton, 2004; Guba, 1981). Guba (1981) has established four criteria for assessing the trustworthiness in qualitative research studies. The first criterion, known as truth value or credibility, ensures that there is internal validity within the study. One strategy to address this issue is triangulation. Triangulation involves the use of different methods or data sources. For this study, triangulation was employed through the use of three separate focus groups, and combining qualitative and quantitative sources. Another criterion that is met by the triangulation techniques is neutrality or confirmability. Confirmability focuses on the investigator's attention to objectivity. The use of several data sources limits any biases that the researcher may have toward the study.

The third criterion for establishing trustworthiness is applicability or transferability, and addresses the issue of external validity. Shenton (2004) states that due to the nature of qualitative projects "it is impossible to demonstrate that the findings and conclusions are applicable to other situations and populations" (p. 69). It is important, however, that the study provide readers with a "thick description" of the setting and study so that they can compare it to other, similar

situations that they may encounter. The detailed description of the setting and study also allows for a similar project to be established in a different environment (Shenton, 2004). For this reason, a detailed description of the beliefs and history of the SSI was included in chapter two.

The last criterion for trustworthiness is consistency or dependability, and demonstrates to the reader that "if the work was to be repeated in the same context, with the same methods, and with the same participants, similar results would be obtained" (Shenton, 2004, p. 71). To meet this criterion, the study included a detailed report on how the research was conducted, and analyzed, and an evaluation of the outcome of the findings.

#### 3.3.2 School Effectiveness Data Method

The quantitative collection of school effectiveness data analyzed the ABC produced value added scores. Value added data from the last four years were secured for each school. The value added data provides school and district leaders with a score that compares the effectiveness of schools, teams, and teachers to others in the ABC district in regards to student achievement. In this study, the change in value added data will be examined from before to after the intervention.

The ABC Value-Added Measure (VAM) was developed in 2010 and is a calculation of effectiveness based on student achievement as measured by the state End of Grade (EOG) or End of Course (EOC) tests. The ABC VAM is similar to the North Carolina ABC model for growth, except that the ABC model includes student factors and not just test scores. The ABC VAM is a multilevel, mixed effects, linear regression

model ("Talent and Teacher Effectiveness," 2011). The VAM combines student factors that may affect student achievement and a calculated predicted test score for each student based on previous test scores. The difference between the actual score and the predicted score combined with student factors indicates the impact of a school, team, or teacher on student achievement. The VAM does not provide information about how or why the school affected student test scores. There are three levels of variables in the VAM, including student level, class level, and school level. Overall, 35 variables are included in the model ("Talent and Teacher Effectiveness,"2011).

This study examined the VAM at the school level, which provides a percentile score of the school's contribution to student achievement on EOGs by content area relative to all other ABC schools. A high VAM indicates that "student scores were higher than predicted and that the school is more effective at supporting student achievement as reflected by test scores (p.15)" ("Talent and Teacher Effectiveness," 2011). Conversely, a low VAM would indicate a school is less effective at supporting student achievement.

The VAM uses days of instruction known as the "180 day construct" (Days) as a way to display value-added estimates on a graph and to compare VAM scores across years, subjects, teachers, and other variables. According to the 180 day construct, an average teacher's VAM score would translate to a score of 180. Teachers above the 180 threshold would be above average. The scores do not represent actual days of instruction, but provide the district with a way to

display and compare VAM scores in terms of relative distance above or below the average ("Talent and Teacher Effectiveness," 2011).

The value added data (VAM and Days) were reviewed through a descriptive lens to explore trends at the school level in both math and reading among SS schools and all other ABC schools. Group comparisons among the data helped to determine if there were commonalities or significant differences between and within cohorts in regards to changes in value added scores as it relates to the years of being designated a SS school. The VAM scores for each school and cohort were provided for the year before the schools were designated as SS schools, to establish an initial mean score to compare to other schools and from year to year. Statistical analysis was done using the Freidman test to determine if the changes were statistically significant.

## 3.6 Summary

Mixed method research has played an important role in educational research (Yin, 2006). The mixed method approach was appropriate for this study and provided a more holistic analysis of the SSI as it relates to hiring teachers in an attempt to improve student achievement. Izzy (2002) notes the strength of using theory and research to answer questions through different types of analysis and argues that the goal should not be to seek absolute truths, but instead, acknowledge that research is "not a choice between absolute truth and no truth at all. Rather, truth is always historical, cultural, and socially created" (p.2). The results of this study will allow readers to look at the success of the SSI through several different perspectives. Chapter Four presents the results of the study.

#### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

This chapter reports the findings from the survey and school effectiveness data collected. The results of the survey for each of the three groups will be shared. Next, results will be reviewed to determine if there was any significant change in the VAM and Days for the three cohorts.

## 4.1 Survey Results

## 4.1.1 Principal Survey Results

Nine (53%) of the 17 principals responded to the survey, including three principals from Cohort 1, four from Cohort 2, and two from Cohort 3. A majority of the principals (67%) had eight years or more of experience as principals, with the rest having five to seven years of experience. All of the respondents had served as principals in other schools in the district before taking a Strategic Staffing position. The principals were asked what factors they consider when deciding which teachers to hire strategically. The top five responses were: (a) previous EOG/EOC proficiency and growth scores (89%), (b) they had worked with the teacher at another school (77%), (c) recommendations from others (67%), (d) district created VAM data (56%), and (e) interviewed well (the principals were able to choose more than one answer) (33%). Principals also stated that they considered shared philosophies that children of poverty can learn, and they looked for teachers who met the needs of the school's strategic plan.

Fifty-six percent of the principals rated their SS staff's ability to improve student achievement as very effective, with the remaining 44% rated at the somewhat effective level. The principals' responses were mixed on whether or not they would rehire their Strategically Staffed teachers. Three of the nine principals stated that they would rehire the same individuals. The remaining six principals expressed that they would rehire some, but not others. Three principals commented that some of the teachers struggled and were moved to other positions in the school or left the district for unknown reasons. A majority of the principals (67%) believe that the five allotted positions were not enough to have a significant impact on student achievement. One principal stated that having more SS staff would impact growth in a shorter period of time. Another principal stated that the five teachers did not impact the school and said, "This school was and continues to be in academic crisis, especially in the area of Reading. I need, and needed then, an effective teacher in EVERY class, not just average." Two principals commented that they believe the gains their schools have seen are more a result of their focus on hiring the right teachers and retaining them than the impact of the SS staff.

Despite the mixed results on the questions about whether the principals would rehire the SS staff, and if the five allotted positions were enough, each of the nine principals listed several ways that the SS staff impacted student achievement. Three principals described the impact that the SS staff has had on increasing collaboration with other teachers, and providing curriculum and instructional support to other staff members. One principal responded to the survey explaining the mixed impact of the SSI staff:

Three of the teachers had a major impact, as they not only grew the students in their classroom, but they also played a major role in

changing the way in which teachers planned and collaborated in a number of areas. They changed the way the staff talked about kids and families, and how to analyze data.

Four of the principals attributed the SSI staff for the positive increases in growth and proficiency scores.

### 4.1.2 Strategically Staffed Staff Survey Responses

Thirty-two (86%) of the 37 individuals eligible to participate responded to the survey. Seventy-two percent of the respondents had 11 years or more of experience as educators, with the remaining 18% reporting between 3-10 years of experience. Half of the 32 SS staff who responded are currently in their second year of being Strategically Staffed. Of the remaining participants, 12 are in their third year, one person is currently in an SS school beyond the three year commitment, one person completed the SS commitment and has moved to another school, and two did not complete the SS commitment. There were no respondents from Cohort 1. Cohort 2 had 14 respondents and Cohort 3 had 18. All 34 of the SS staff worked in the same or another ABC school before accepting their SS positions. A majority of the SS staff served in three roles: Academic Facilitator (38%), teacher of an EOG/EOC course (31%), or Assistant Principal (21%).

Several themes emerged in the SS staff responses to the open-ended question about why they decided to move to a SS school. The two reasons mentioned most were (a) they wanted to work for the principal of that school and (b) the bonus money. Other repeated themes included (a) looking for a new challenge (6), (b) financial bonus (6), (c) making a difference (4), (d) enjoying working with the population of students (4) and (e) already being at the school

(3). The rest of the responses from the survey will be addressed in comparison with the other two groups.

### 4.1.3 Non-Strategically Staffed Staff Survey Responses

Of the 285 eligible participants, 91 (32%) completed the survey. The majority of the respondents (60%) have over 11 years of experience as educators. The remaining participants have 3-5 years (15%) or 6-10 years (26%). The respondents were divided among the three cohorts as follows: Cohort 1 (18%), Cohort 2 (37%), and Cohort 3 (45%). A majority of the non-SS staff serve in two roles: teacher of a non-EOG/EOC course (56%), and teacher of a EOG/EOC class (46%). When asked if, given an opportunity to transfer to another position in the district, they would choose to stay at their current schools since SS began, the answers were almost evenly divided, with 53.4% responding yes and 47% responding no.

## Rating-scale Results

The survey included six questions common to all surveys that asked the participants to rank the effectiveness of their schools in several areas, including increasing student achievement, collaborative efforts of Professional Learning Communities (PLC), flexibility in designing lesson plans, and input on curriculum and instructional decisions.

The results in Table 6 show that the principals believed their staffs' ability to improve student achievement increased after year one of the initiative, with 33% of principals rating them as very effective and 67% rating them as somewhat effective.

Table 6

Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Ability of staff to improve student achievement during the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative".

	Very Effective	Somewhat Effective	A little Effective	Not at all Effective
	%	%	%	%
Principals	20	50	30	0
SS Staff	28	56	16	0
Non-SS Staff	17	48	29	7

Principals, SS staff, and non-SS staff rating on the ability of staff to improve student achievement currently is reported in Table 7. The very effective rating was 10% higher than the rating principals gave their teachers after the first year of the initiative (see Table 6). The SS staff group and non-SS staff group showed similar increases in their perceptions from year one to today. The SS staff group had the highest rating, with 41% rating their staffs as very effective compared to the principals' rating of 33% and non-SS staff of 26.4%.

Table 7
Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Ability of staff to improve student achievement currently."

	Very Effective	Somewhat Effective	A little Effective	Not at all Effective
-	%	%	%	%
Principals	33	67	0	0
SS Staff	41	47	13	0
Non-SS Staff	27	54	16	3

The three groups showed differences in how they view the effectiveness of the schools' Professional Learning Communities (PLC) in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction. Table 8 shows that the principal group gave the highest ratings of 56% very effective and 44% somewhat effective. The SS staff had ratings of 41% and 40%, while the non-SS staff groups' ratings were lower at 28% and 48.3%.

Table 8

Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Effectiveness of school's Professional Learning Communities (PLC)."

	Very Effective	Somewhat Effective	A little Effective	Not at all Effective
	%	%	%	%
Principals	56	44	0	0
SS Staff	41	41	13	6
Non-SS Staff	32	29	17	12

Next, the groups were asked how much input the teachers have in decision making processes involving curriculum and instruction for their schools. The responses

are shown in Table 9. The answers again varied by group. The non-SS staff group responded with the lowest ratings, with 28% responding that they have little or no input, and 32% responding that they have a great deal of input.

Table 9

Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Input from teachers in decision making processes."

	Great Deal %	Some %	Very Little %	None %
Principals	44	56	0	0
SS Staff	66	25	0	9
Non-SS Staff	32	29	17	12

The groups were asked to rate the amount of flexibility that teachers have in designing lesson plans. As shown in Table 10, the majority of principals (67%) said teachers have a great deal of flexibility, compared to 52% of the SS group, and 49% of the non-SS group.

Table 10

Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Flexibility in designing lessons."

	A great deal %	Some %	Very Little %	None %
Principals	67	22	11	0
SS Staff	52	35	7	6
Non-SS Staff	49	31	16	4

The SS staff and non-SS staff were asked to rate their ability to improve student achievement. Table 11 indicates that the SS staff rated themselves higher than the non-

SS staff, with 81% rating themselves very effective and 19% reporting somewhat effective compared to 61% and 38% for the non-SS staff.

Table 11

Percentage of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Ability to improve student achievement- Self Rated."

	Very Effective %	Somewhat Effective %	A little Effective %	Not at all Effective %
SS Staff	81	19	0	0
Non-SS Staff	55	34	1	0

# Open-ended Survey Results

Each of the three groups was asked six open-ended questions regarding SS in their schools. The answers were analyzed for themes within each group and then across each group to compare similarities and differences.

The first question asked the respondents to describe some of the instructional decisions made by the leadership team that have had the biggest impact on student achievement. There were a total of 114 responses. Table 12 shows the most frequent answers among the three groups.

Table 12

Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Instructional Decisions"

Decision	Principal	SSI staff	Non-SSI
Increased/ new focus on reading	3	15	19
Increased use of data	3	8	7
Adjusting master schedule	4	9	5
Quality PD	3	10	6
Improving PLC's	2	8	8
Increase in tutoring options	0	6	5
Increase in technology	0	5	5
Freedom to design lesson plans	0	4	4
Use of facilitators/coaches	0	6	1
Increase in inquiry model	0	6	2

As the results show, all three groups rated the increased focus on reading as the number one decision that impacted student achievement. Respondents attributed growth to a variety of strategies, including Accelerated Reader, Reader's Workshop, guided reading, use of non-fiction text, Achieve 3000, and balanced literacy. The increased use of data to guide and adjust instruction, and providing staff with quality professional development were ranked high by all three groups. One non-SS staff member noted the value of "increased professional development conducted by our teachers, our experts.

This boosts credibility for the participants of the training and allows them to see that they can also become skilled on this particular 'strategy.'"

The impact of the schools' PLCs was frequently cited. One respondent stated that the positive change was due to the "focused, consistent work within PLCs. This work was led by the Academic Facilitator and administrators and helped us better understand the status of our teachers as well as what was needed to improve their practice."

Scheduling was noted as having a dual impact. First, respondents described the impact of adjusting the master schedule to be more flexible and better meet the needs of students. They also wrote about the importance of moving teachers to different positions. One principal wrote about the importance of "putting the right people in the right places – not just placing all strategic people in upper grades where scores might have big leaps more quickly." Other top responses included increased tutoring opportunities for students, increases in technology, freedom in designing their own lesson plans, increasing the use of the inquiry model, and use of Academic Facilitators and academic coaches.

The next question asked the participants what changes they would make to SSI.

A total of 123 individuals responded. Table 13 shows the most frequent responses.

Table 13

Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Changes to SSI."

Changes	Principal	SSI Staff	Non-SSI
Offer bonuses to staff already in schools	0	1	9
Bonuses for all teachers who show growth	2	1	6
Change who is eligible for SS positions	2	9	16
Increase number of SS positions	3	10	18
Increase flexibility in SS hiring process	2	0	0
Make process more transparent	0	2	5
No changes needed	1	5	7

Overwhelmingly, the recommended changes have to do with bonuses that the SS staff received. Non-SS staffed respondents wrote about how teachers are selected to receive the bonuses. One participant wrote:

The bonuses should be offered to teachers who have been effective at those schools. I have been doing the same job of the teachers that were strategically staffed and have not been rewarded for my efforts. As an EC teacher I am limited on the bonuses I can receive for student achievement. Both of my inclusion teachers from the last year were offered bonuses from the state to stay at my school for the next two years. This has not been offered to me.

The non-SS staff and the SS staff would like the following changes to be made: increase the number of teachers who receive bonuses, give bonuses to all teachers who show growth, give bonuses to teachers who are already in the school, and expand the program to include non-EOG teachers. The principal responses were focused more on increasing both the number of SS positions and the flexibility of when and how the SS is hired.

The three groups showed consistency when asked what they saw as the benefits of the SSI. Each group responded that the quality of teachers in the schools has improved. The groups also agreed that the schools are now more focused and have a clearer vision.

The SS staff and non-SS staff also noted that the quality of leadership of the SS principals has had a positive impact on their school. One SS staff member said:

The biggest benefit is that a proven, high performance principal is in place in these buildings along with several staff members to support their growth efforts. This provides us with a leader who is instructionally focused and can maintain sight of what is necessary to improve teaching and learning at the school.

Other benefits mentioned are presented in Table 14 and include increased resources, bonuses for SS staff, a new sense of urgency to improve instruction, increased collaboration among staff, and the ability to remove weak or ineffective teachers.

Table 14

Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Benefits of SSI"

Benefits	Principal	SSI Staff	Non-SSI
Increase in effective teachers	3	14	13
Strong leadership principal	0	7	7
More focused vision/goals	3	2	4
Additional staff	0	0	8
Bonus money	0	5	4
Being able to remove weak teachers	2	0	3
Increased resources	1	1	7
Increased sense of urgency	1	2	4
Freedom and flexibility	0	4	8
No benefits	0	0	8

The participants were asked to describe the weaknesses of the SSI. The answers are highlighted in Table 15. A total of 118 individuals responded to the question.

Table 15

Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Weaknesses of SSI."

Weaknesses	Principal	SSI Staff	Non-SSI
Not all good teachers recognized with bonuses	2	7	8
Too much staff turnover	2	3	8
Staff leaving after SS commitment is over	3	4	4
Staff not understanding school setting	0	2	2
Low morale of staff	0	4	3
Favoritism of some staff	0	0	4
Finding effective teachers	2	0	2
Poor leadership	0	0	5
Reputation of being designated SSI school	0	0	3
Lack of support from district	2	1	1

The most frequent response from the three groups was that the program does not recognize and reward all good teachers. The SS and non-SS staff also noted that there was some favoritism among the SS staff, which impacted school morale. One respondent noted:

I would say the one weakness that I have encountered was that there were some tensions in the beginning between the teachers that were already there and then when the Strategic Staff came in. Understandably the other teachers were upset that the Strategically Staffed teachers were coming in and receiving monetary bonus, while they have worked there for a number of years and not receiving anything.

One principal also noted the tension and said:

I talked extensively with my SSI teachers before our arrival in our school in terms of coming to the school in a 'stealth fashion'- not coming in like they were going to be the saviors of student achievement. They needed (we all needed) to begin by building relationships with those that were already here at the school.

The groups identified staff turnover as another major weakness. This impacted the school due to the large number of new teachers each year, and the inability to retain the SS staff beyond their three year commitment. One non-SS staff member wrote "It keeps the school a revolving door. There is not dedication or commitment to the students. The teachers and administration get their money, and then they leave." Other noted weaknesses from the SS and non-SS staff included poor leadership, lack of freedom, and the negative reputation that comes with being labeled a SSI school.

The last two survey questions addressed the perceived internal and external barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in schools. The responses to internal barriers were extensive with limited overlap among the three groups. As shown in Table 16, the most frequent concern common to all three groups was student behavior.

Table 16

Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "Internal barriers to improving student achievement."

Internal Barriers	Principal	SSI Staff	Non-SSI
Too many weak teachers	2	6	6
Too many new staff members	2	5	3
Lack of staff buy-in	2	2	3
Student behavior problems	2	7	9
Not enough time	3	2	5
Class/school size	2	2	4
Parental involvement	1	1	8
Stress/low morale	2	2	9
ESL/EC support	0	2	5

Getting all staff members to support the vision and mission of the leadership team was also noted numerous times. One principal who described the challenge said that the "this too shall pass attitude among some of the entrenched staff. Possible expectation that I'll be somewhere else after three years and another philosophy will change things." A SS staff member agreed, and noted that "in order to improve student achievement, there needs to be a team of teachers who have a laser like focus on student achievement. Distractions of any kind are deadly and draining."

Time was another consistent barrier among the groups. Some respondents spoke about the lack of time during the school day to plan and complete paperwork. Principals spoke about time in regards to the three year commitment not being long enough and facing new challenges. As one principal stated, "This year we had to start all over again. Becoming a PreK-8 school has put us back where we started over 3 years ago. We have added so many new staff that we have had to rebuild our culture." SS and non-SS staff noted that disruptive students were not addressed effectively, and negatively impacted the classroom environment. Having too many weak teachers and new staff were also noted frequently among the groups.

One theme that emerged in both the internal and external barrier questions was parental involvement. One non-SS staff member expressed frustration, referring to "the attitude the parents pass on to the students. You can give the students all the resources in the world to help them learn, but you can't make them learn." Another SS member wrote a similar response citing the difficulty in making needed improvements because of "parents, communities, and poor role models. A culture of failure and ignorance persist despite the improvements made in school."

Table 17 shows that community support, living in poverty, language barriers, and high levels of transient students are concerns for the staff. Three responses were connected to the school or district: too much testing, changes to student assignment (e.g., changing to PreK-8), school/class size, lack of support for teachers, and the struggle to attract top teachers.

Table 17
Frequency of Principals, SS Staff, and Non-SS Staff for the Item "External barriers to increasing student achievement."

External Barriers	Principal	SSI Staff	Non-SSI
Parental involvement	2	5	18
Community involvement	2	4	5
Students living in poverty	2	4	7
School/class size	3	0	2
Transient student population	1	2	2
Language barriers	0	1	3
Too much testing	2	2	5
Failure to attract top teachers	1	2	3
Lack of support for teachers	1	1	3

The responses from the survey showed some consistencies among the three groups on impact and the benefits and weaknesses of the SSI. The three groups agreed that the increased focus on reading strategies has had the biggest impact on student achievement levels. The closed questions revealed that all three groups rated themselves relatively high on their ability to improve student achievement, and the input that teachers have on curriculum and instructional decisions.

### 4.1.4 Summary of Survey Results by Research Questions

The findings of each research question based on survey results are summarized in the next section.

1. What perceived impact did the SS and entire staff have on increasing student achievement?

Overall, the survey results from the three groups indicate that that the SSI has had a positive impact on student achievement and that the ability of the staff to improve student achievement increased after the first year of the SSI. One hundred percent of the principals ranked their current staff's ability to increase student achievement as "very effective" or "somewhat effective." The SS staff and non-SS staff gave similar rankings of 88% and 81% respectively. When asked to rate their own ability to increase student achievement, nearly 100% of the SS staff and non-SS staff rated themselves as "very effective" or "somewhat effective."

When asked about whether principals would rehire the same SS staff, the results were mixed with a majority stating that they would rehire some of the same individuals but not all. Four of the nine principals attributed the positive increases in student growth to the SS staff. The principals stated that the SS staff impacted student achievement by increasing the collaboration among teachers and leading and providing professional development and instructional support for the staff. The results of the survey indicate that none of the groups felt that the five allotted positions were enough to make the impact on student achievement that was needed.

2. What role do teachers have in school wide decision making processes in regards to student achievement?

The survey results suggest that overall most of the respondents feel that they have input in the decision making process. The principals gave the highest ranks with 100% of them indicating that the staff has "a great deal" or "some input." The non-Staff had the lowest rating with 12% answering that they have "no input" into decision making.

3. What does each group perceive as the benefits of SS?

The respondents answered the open ended questions with a variety of answers to the perceived benefits of SS. All three groups answered that the "increase in effective teachers" as the most frequent response. The two other most frequent answers for principals were more focused vision/goals, and being able to remove weak teachers. The SS staff most frequent answers were: strong leadership and principals, and bonus money. The non-SS staff responses included: additional staff, freedom and flexibility, and no benefits.

4. What does each group perceive as weaknesses of SS?

The survey results showed some consistency among the three groups with the top three answers being: staff leaving after SS commitment is over, not all good teachers recognized with bonus money, and too much staff turnover. Low morale was another one weakness that mentioned frequently by SS staff and non-SS staff. The non-SS staff differed from the other two groups with 5 respondents mentioning poor leadership as a weakness.

5. What does each group perceive as barriers to making greater gains in student achievement? (internal and external)

The groups did not show alignment in their responses to what they perceive as internal barriers to increasing student achievement. The principals cited a variety of

responses including; not enough time, too many weak teachers, too many new staff members, lack of staff buy-in, student behavior problems, class/school size, and stress/ low morale. The most frequent responses for the SS staff were: student behavior problems, too many weak teachers, and too many staff members. The non-SS staff top answers were: student behavior problems, parental involvement, and stress/ low morale.

In regards to external barriers, there was consistency among the three groups. All three groups believe that parental involvement, community involvement, and students living in poverty were major barriers. Other frequent responses included: too much testing and class size.

6. What changes would each group make to improve the SS?

Overwhelmingly the majority of the responses to what changes they would make to the SSI addressed who and how individuals received the SS bonuses.

Specific changes that were frequently mentioned included: offer bonuses to staff already in the SS schools, offer more bonuses, and change who is eligible for the bonuses.

7. If given the opportunity, would teachers and principals make the same decisions about working in an SS school?

The non-SS staff responses on whether they would transfer if given an opportunity were split with 53% responding that they would remain in the their current school and 47% responding no they would transfer.

8. What factors/characteristics did principals use to select SS staff and teachers use to decide to accept a SS position?

The principals were given a list six options with an option of adding another answer regarding the factors they considered when hiring SS staff. The principals were able to choose more than one answer. The three most frequent answers included; previous EOG/EOC proficiency and growth scores (89%), they had worked with the teacher at another school (77%) and recommendations (67%).

The SS staff was asked to answer an open ended question on the factors they considered before accepting the SS position. The two most frequent responses were they wanted to work the principal of the school and the bonus money.

1. How effective are the PLCs in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?

Each of the three groups was asked to rank the effectiveness of the PLC's in helping teachers collaborate to improve student achievement. The principals gave the highest ratings with 100% answering "very effective" or "somewhat effective." The SS staff had 81% give the same rankings. The non-SS staff gave the lowest ranking with only 61% answering "very effective" or "somewhat effective" and 12% responding "not effective at all." It is worth noting that improving PLC's was one of the more frequent responses by SS staff and non-SS staff on an open ended questions about positive instructional changes made by the leadership team.

2. What level of flexibility do teachers have in designing lessons?

Each group was asked to rate the amount of flexibility teachers have in designing lesson plans. The principals gave the highest ratings with 67% answering "a great deal" compared to 53% of SS staff and 49% of non-SS staff. The non-SS staff respondents showed variance from the other two groups with 20% of them stating that they had "very little" or "none."

3. What instructional decisions have had the biggest impact on student achievement?

Each group was asked an open ended question to describe some of the instructional decisions that have had the biggest impact on student achievement that were made by the school leadership. The most frequent responses among the three groups included: increased/new focus on reading, increase use of data, quality professional development, and improving PLC's.

#### 4.2 School Effectiveness Results

The following sections describe the results of the change in VAM and Days for the three cohorts. Each cohort will be presented separately, and then the results will be aggregated to examine all the cohorts together. Descriptive statistics were used to describe the outcomes, and nonparametric statistics were used to examine differences from year to year. Nonparametric statistics were used because of the small sample size for each cohort.

#### Cohort 1

Table 18 displays the minimums, maximums, means, and standard deviations for the Cohort 1 schools (N=7) for the VAM and the Days outcome variables from 2008 to 2011. The 2008 school year serves as a baseline for the schools' data prior to the three years of being designated as Strategically Staffed. The means mathematics and reading VAM and Days increased every year, from 2008 to 2011.

Table 18

Cohort 1 2008 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=7)

Subject	Measure	Year	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Math						
	VAM	2008	1.0	94.0	40.9	34.3
		2009	4.0	99.0	52.3	37.8
		2010	16.0	99.0	59.4	32.8
		2011	32.0	99.0	68.6	24.8
	Days	2008	165.0	202.0	177.3	12.9
		2009	164.0	215.0	184.1	17.3
		2010	174.0	210.0	185.3	12.5
		2011	176.0	215.0	189.3	13.7
Reading						
	VAM	2008	8	98	41.1	30.3
		2009	4	99	47.1	35.8
		2010	22	99	49.4	33.8
		2011	17	98	64.1	29.2
	Days	2008	175	189	179.7	4.5
		2009	172	195	180.9	7.7
		2010	178	193	181.7	6.0
		2011	177	188	182.1	4.0

The results of the significance change for the first year are reported in Table 19. There was a significant change for the first year in math, but there was not a significant change in reading. In math, the VAM scores increased for five of the seven schools and increased in Days for six of the seven schools. However in reading, there was not a significant change with only four of the seven schools increasing for both VAM and Days.

Table 19
Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 1 for the Change in the First Year (2008 to 2009)

Subject	Measures	Increased	Decreased	Z	
Math	VAM	5	2	1.86	*
	Days	6	1	2.117	*
Reading	VAM	4	3	.51	ns
	Days	4	3	.61	ns

*Note.* \* *p*<.01; ns=not statistically significant

For Cohort 1, four years of data were available for both VAM and Days.

Friedman tests were used to examine the VAM and Days changes in rank across the four years. The results are shown in Table 20. In math, there was a significant change in the mean rank values for both the VAM and Days outcome variables, with mean values increasing from 2008 to 2011. In reading, the mean rank values were not statistically significant for either the VAM or Days outcome variables.

Table 20
Cohort 1 Freidman Results

			_					
Subject	Measures	2008	2009	2010	2011	Chi-sq	df	
Math	VAM	1.4	2.1	2.7	3.7	12.5	3	**
	Days	1.1	2.4	2.5	3.9	16.8	3	**
Reading	VAM	2.1	2.7	2.6	3.0	2.0	3	ns
	Days	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.9	.82	3	ns

### Cohort 2

The following table displays the minimums, maximums, means, and standard deviations for the Cohort 2 schools (N=7) for the VAM and the Days outcome variables from 2009 to 2011. The 2009 school year served as a baseline. The schools in Cohort 2 completed the three year SSI at the end of the 2011-12 school year. The means for reading VAM increased each year with the Days increasing the first year and remaining the same the next two years.

Table 21

Cohort 2 2009 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=7)

Subject	Measure	Year	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Math						
	VAM	2009	5.0	86.0	44.7	25.4
		2010	10.0	83.0	55.7	25.1
		2011	14.0	93.0	55.6	26.2
	Days	2009	165.0	191.0	178.3	7.8
		2010	172.0	186.0	180.3	4.7
		2011	171.0	196.0	182.0	8.0
Reading						
_	VAM	2009	12	70	47.1	24.2
		2010	16	73	49.9	21.9
		2011	25	82	49.4	23.3
	Days	2009	175	182	179.1	2.9
	•	2010	177	182	179.7	1.8
		2011	178	183	180.0	1.8

The results from the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test for Cohort 2 for change in the first year (2009 to 2010) are reported in Table 22. Scores for VAM and Days increased

in five of the seven schools for math and reading during the first year of implementation, but there were no statistically significant changes for VAM and Days for math or reading Table 22

Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 2 for the Change in the First Year (2009to 2010)

Subject	Measures	Increased	Decreased	Tied	Z	
Math	VAM Days	5 5	2 2	0 0	1.18 .93	ns ns
Reading	VAM Days	5 3	2 2	0 2	.51 .27	ns ns

*Note.* \* *p*<.01; ns=not statistically significant

For Cohort 2, three years of data were available for both VAM and Days.

Friedman tests were used to examine the VAM and Days changes in rank across the three years. The mean rank values were not statistically significant for either the VAM or Days outcome variables for reading or math.

Table 23

Cohort 2 Friedman Results

	_		Mean Rank				
Subject	Measures	2009	2010	2011	Chi-sq	df	
Math	VAM	1.6	2.1	2.3	2.0	2	ns
	Days	1.6	2.1	2.4	2.3	2	ns
Reading	VAM	1.7	1.9	2.4	2.0	2	ns
	Days	1.9	1.9	2.2	.64	2	ns

### Cohort 3

The following table displays the minimums, maximums, means, and standard deviations for the Cohort 1 schools (N=5) for the VAM and the Days outcome variables from 2010 and 2011. The 2010 school year serves as a baseline for the schools data prior to being designated as Strategically Staffed in 2011. The means mathematics VAM and Days decreased between 2010 and 2011. The means reading showed small gains in both VAM and Days.

Table 24

Cohort 3 2010 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=5)

Subject	Measure	Year	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Math						
	VAM	2010	39.0	74.0	54.6	15.2
		2011	6.0	82.0	46.8	34.0
	Days	2010	178.0	184.0	180.4	2.6
		2011	165.0	191.0	178.6	11.2
Reading						
	VAM	2010	12	70	47.1	24.2
		2011	16	73	49.9	21.9
	Days	2010	175	182	179.1	2.9
		2011	177	182	179.7	1.8

The results from the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test for Cohort 3 for change in the first year (2010 to 2011) are reported in Table 25. Mean scores for VAM and Days increased in two of the five schools for math, and three of the five schools for reading during the first year of implementation. There was no statistically significant change for VAM or Days in math and reading.

Table 25
Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests for Cohort 3 for the Change in the First Year (2010 to 2011)

Subject	Measures	Increased	Decreased	Tied	Z	
Math	VAM	2	3	0	.67	ns
	Days	2	3	0	.54	ns
Reading	VAM	3	2	0	.14	ns
	Days	3	2	0	.54	ns

*Note.* \* *p*<.01; ns=not statistically significant

### All Cohorts

The descriptive statistics for all schools (N=19) using the VAM and Days values a year prior to and immediately after receiving the intervention are reported in Table 26.In math and reading, the VAM and Days mean values increased, but none of the changes were statistically significant. In math, the increase for VAM from the 46 percentile to the 52 percentile (t=1.2, df=18, p=.23) and increase in Days from 178 Days to 181 Days (t=1.6, df=18, p=.12) was not statistically significant. In reading, the increase for VAM from the 40 percentile to the 44 percentile (t=.5, df=18, p=.62) and increase in Days from 179 Days to 180 Days (t=1.0, df=18, p=.33) was not statistically significant

Table 26

Cohorts 1-3 2008 to 2011 Math and Reading VAM and Days Minimums, Maximums, Means, and Standard Deviations Values (N=19)

Subject	Measure	Year	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Math						
	VAM	Pre	1	94	45.9	26.3
		Post	4	99	52.1	30.9
	Days	Pre	165	202	178.5	8.9
		Post	164	215	181.3	11.9
Reading						
	VAM	Pre	4	98	40.3	28.3
		Post	4	99	43.7	27.1
	Days	Pre	175	189	178.9	3.6
	·	Post	172	195	179.7	4.7

## 4.3 Summary

The results of the school effectiveness data analysis indicate that the SSI schools saw some small positive change in the quality of instruction as it relates to VAM and Days. The mean in both reading and math did increase for each cohort over time; however, only the Cohort 1 math results showed any statistical significance.

Chapter Five will review the findings and the results of the study in relation to the research questions and previously discussed literature and studies. Explanations will be provided for trends and differences among the results. Lastly, recommendations for next steps will be discussed.

#### CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

This chapter begins with a review of the purpose and findings of the study. The results are then discussed in relation to previous studies for commonalities and differences. The strengths and limitations of the study are also examined. Finally, recommendations for future research and implementation of similar initiatives are highlighted.

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact that SSI has had on improving student achievement as perceived by different stakeholders in the SSI schools. A mixed method approach was used to determine not only if the initiative has been successful as measured by VAM and Days data, but also to describe the factors that have the biggest impact on increasing student achievement, and the challenges the schools still face.

### 5.1 Findings

The findings from the survey revealed some similarities and differences among the principals, SS staff, and non-SS Staff in regard to the SSI. The principals expressed mixed feelings about whether they would rehire staff for the SS positions. A majority of the principals (76%) thought that the allotted SS positions were not enough to have a meaningful impact on increasing student achievement, and they expressed the need to

increase the number. SS staff and non-SS staff expressed similar opinions in the openended responses where they ranked the need to increase the number of staff members who receive incentives as a needed change and a weakness of the SSI.

Similarly, all three groups agreed that a major internal barrier of the SSI was that the SS schools faced high levels of teacher turnover each year and that the schools still had large numbers of weak or ineffective teachers. They expressed concern that as the three year commitment ended many of the SS staff and principals were leaving the school and creating more vacancies.

Similarities were also seen in the opinions of each group on which instructional decisions have had the biggest impact on student achievement. There was clear consensus on five responses: implementing new reading strategies or curricula, increased use of data, adjusting the master schedule, providing teachers with quality professional development, and improving the effectiveness of Professional Learning Communities (PLC). The effectiveness of PLCs was reinforced in all three groups' responses; 79% of them agreed that their schools' PLCs were very or somewhat effective.

The results from the survey suggest that having a strong principal has a major impact in two ways. First, the responses from the SS staff indicate that knowing the principal as an effective leader was a major factor in their decision to go to the SS school. The leadership of the principal was also recognized by the SS staff and non-SS Staff as one of the main benefits of the SSI. Overall, 107 participants thought that their staffs were very effective (30%) or somewhat effective (53%) at improving student achievement levels.

The quantitative findings from the VAM and Days data suggest that the SSI has not had a significant impact on the effectiveness of teachers in math or reading over the duration of the initiative. While there was a statistically significant increase in math scores for VAM and Days for Cohort 1 after the first year, the data indicate that it was the only cohort that did so, and only for the first year. The school effectiveness data showed a pattern of positive increases in both VAM and Days for math and reading for Cohort 1 over the four year time period. The other two cohorts did not show consistent patterns. Cohort 2 showed an initial increase in both areas, but then showed little or no change. Cohort 3 had only two years of data and showed a negative change in math VAM and Days and only very small growth in reading VAM and Days.

#### 5.2 Links to Previous Research

Many of the findings from this study align with research discussed earlier in this paper. Similar to the theories of Weber (Weber in Lemert, 2004), Johnson H. (2008) and Johnson O. (2008), the demographics of the neighborhood impact the schooling of students. Participants in this study agreed that parental involvement, students living in poverty, and lack of community support were the three largest external barriers they faced. One respondent wrote, "One third of our students live in houses where the parents are unable (due to education, language, or employment options) to help children with their school work. This is a huge problem and no resources have been allocated to address these challenges." Some of the participants stated that the stress of working with high percentages of disadvantaged students discourages high quality teachers coming to or staying at the school.

Previous research by Duke et al., (2007), Mac Iver (2004), Mac Iver and Balfanz (2010) and Weatherfield and Applefield (2004) found that many schools undergoing CSR reforms failed due to the lack of resources, lack of technical knowledge about effective curriculum and instruction, getting the staff to support the vision and mission of the school, and unstable operating environments (teacher and principal mobility). Based on the responses to the survey, it appears that most SS schools do not see lack of resources or technical knowledge as an issue. In fact, participants gave high ranks to quality of professional development, support from Academic Facilitators, and the increase in technology and other resources. Based on the survey results, a high number of SS staff are serving in Academic Facilitator positions. While some respondents voiced concerns that too many people that received bonuses while serving in non-teaching positions, the findings suggests that the Academic Facilitators have helped to provide the SS schools with curriculum and instructional support that they need. Having adequate instructional support in struggling schools is a positive difference between the findings in this study and previous research (Duke et al., 2007).

The findings of this study are aligned with the other two concerns: getting the staff to support the vision and mission of the school, and unstable operating environments (teacher and principal mobility). Respondents from all three groups stressed the difficulty of getting all staff members to support the changes that the principals attempted to implement. As already discussed, one of the most frequent noted weaknesses of the SSI was the high numbers of vacancies and teacher turnover.

The findings from this study suggest that the SSI has been successful in addressing many of the recommendations made by previous research. First, the surveys

show that the staffs at SS schools believe that they have strong principals leading the schools, that decisions are made based on data, and that they are building effective PLCs to increase collaboration among the staff. This is important, because previous research (Duke, 2006, Graczweseki et al., 2007, Rowan & Miller, 2007, and Wetherall & Applefield, 2004) suggests that not having a strong leader or effective PLCs are major reasons for the failure of school reform.

# 5.3 Explanation of Outcomes

The results indicate the SSI has shown some success in implementing the tenets of the SSI discussed earlier in the paper. The first tenet is that a great leader is needed, a principal with a proven track record of success in increasing student achievement. Also, great teachers will not go to a troubled school without a great leader as a principal (Travers & Christiansen, 2010). The results of this survey suggest that the district has had success with this goal given the consistent number of responses from SS staff that they moved to the SS school because of the principal. The SS staff and non-SS staff both mentioned strong leadership as the most frequent response to the survey item that asked the strengths of SSI.

The second tenet of the SSI states that "A team needs to go to the school so a person is not alone in taking on this challenging assignment; there is strength and support in numbers (Travers & Christiansen, 2010). Based on the findings of the survey and VAM and Days data, it does not appear that the limited allotments given to principals have had as much of an impact on student achievement as the district had hoped.

The survey results suggest that the third tenet of removing staff members who are not supportive has not been as easy to accomplish. Based on the responses to the survey,

it appears that there are still teachers who have not supported the new vision or mission of the school or are not effective in the schools. This could be due to the difficulty that the schools have had in recruiting and retaining high quality teachers. Some schools have had to keep weak teachers because they already have so many other vacancies.

The next SSI tenet, that "principals must be given the time and authority to reform the school, and be freed from the district list of non- negotiables that constrain autonomy (Travers & Christiansen, 2010) appears to be somewhat successful. Several individuals from each group commented that three years was not enough time to make the necessary changes; they also mentioned the lack of truefreedom and flexibility from district mandates. On the other hand, SS staff and non-SS staff wrote about the increased flexibility in writing lesson plans and moving away from the district mandated reading program that they viewed as ineffective.

The last tenet of SSI states that "not all job assignments are equal in difficulty and compensation should be varied to match" (Travers & Christiansen, 2010).

This tenet did not align with the opinions of the survey respondents. All three groups stated that a weakness of the SSI was that there are not enough SS positions, and that how individuals are chosen needs to change. Teachers of non-EOG courses expressed great frustration at not being eligible for incentives. Teachers who were at the school before the school was designated as SSI believe that they deserve bonuses as well.

A review of the results reveals a difference between the schools' effectiveness as determined by the quantitative VAM and Days data and the results of the survey. The school effectiveness data suggest that the tenets of the SSI have had no significant impact on improving the effectiveness at the school. However, the results from the survey

suggest that the individuals working in the school have seen positive changes in teacher effectiveness. The differences may be a result of several factors. First, the design of the VAM and Days ranks the schools in the district among themselves. Although a school may show positive growth, a comparison with other schools will result in a lower scale score. The other factor is time. Research discussed earlier suggests that comprehensive school reform takes a minimum of three years, and in most places, much longer (Duke, 2006). The data collected for this study included four years of data for Cohort 1 and only two years for Cohort 3. It may be that the impact of the initiative has not yet resulted in an increase in VAM or Days.

The lack of improvement in the VAM and Days scores could also be a result of the high teacher turnover rates that were mentioned in the survey. Constantly hiring and training new teachers impacts a school and PLC's ability to move forward with changes as fast as they would like. It is also worth noting that the ABC district has had a policy of displacing teachers each year from schools with overages to schools with vacancies.

The survey revealed some differences among the three groups. These differences were most apparent when respondents were asked about the benefits and weaknesses of the SSI. Non-SS staff members were much more likely to express frustration over not receiving bonuses, having feelings of being underappreciated, or suffering from low morale. The SS group included a high number of Academic Facilitators (AF), which could explain the differences in ranking the importance of Academic Facilitators and coaches as effective change agents.

Results also revealed a marked difference in how the SS staff and non- SS staff viewed the leadership team. Non-SS staff was more likely to view the leadership team as

a weakness of the SSI. This could be because many of the SS staff were chosen by their principals to go to the school and thus feel supported by them. Again, a higher level of AFs and Assistant Principals in the SS group also can affect the results because at many schools, they are part of the leadership team and are not likely to view themselves as a weakness.

## 5.4 Strengths and Limitations

The findings of this study have the potential to guide reform efforts in the ABC school district and beyond, as educational leaders weigh the financial costs of the SSI against student outcomes and perceived benefits. The design of this study expanded the knowledge on the SSI regarding what is and is not working from the viewpoint of different stakeholders in each school. This study included the perspectives of stakeholders that had not been included in any previous research. By using both quantitative and qualitative data, the researcher was able to provide a more thorough explanation of the impact of the SSI. The role of the researcher as a principal in the ABC district ended up being an advantage because of the personal connections to district leaders who supported the research and helped to identify eligible participants and data that was needed.

The study is limited in scope to only one school district and a small percentage of people within the district, but it does include the individuals who were most directly affected by the SSI. Although 32 out of 37 eligible participants responded from the SS staffing group, there were no respondents from Cohort 1. The lack of responses from Cohort 1 impacted the researcher's ability to look at differences among the cohorts. The other two groups had almost equal representation from each cohort. Another limitation to

this study is that only non-SS staff that remained at the school for the duration of the initiative were included. The decision to exclude those staff members who left was made to ensure that the responses reflected changes over the years, but it is important to realize that excluding those who left may skew the results.

Causal inferences will be limited. This study provides a description of the SSI schools, but any changes at the SSI schools could be due to factors not considered in this study. It is worth noting that the ABC district has faced great budget woes over the past three years. The SSI schools were impacted by budget cuts, staff layoffs, and increases in the number of high poverty students.

#### 5.5 Recommendations

Based on the results of this study, there are several recommendations for future studies and for the policy makers of the ABC school district. First, based on the responses of the survey, district officials should consider developing a longitudinal plan for retaining effective teachers at the schools during and beyond the three year commitment. It is clear from the results of this study that implementing and sustaining the reform efforts cannot be accomplished with just a three year plan. The longitudinal plan could also incorporate strategies to provide extra support to teachers in these schools, especially new teachers. One idea would be to provide paid professional development opportunities to all teachers in SSI schools. This would be an incentive to remain at the school and provide them with additional strategies and support to be successful during the school year.

Another recommendation is to take a closer look at the reading programs that the SS schools have implemented to see if there is one program that is most effective for the

challenges these schools face. Given the large number of strategies and programs that are used, an investigation of their relative effectiveness would be worthwhile.

The last recommendation is to look in depth at the individuals who chose to leave and their reasons for doing so. The results from this study indicate that about half of the non-SS staff would transfer out of their SS schools if given the opportunity, and that the schools face high levels of teacher mobility. Understanding the reasons why some teachers stay while others choose to leave could lead to policy or school level initiatives to increase the stability of the staff.

### 5.6 Conclusion

The results from this study exemplify the complexities that school leaders face in executing meaningful reform. Despite, the careful planning and focused alignment to previous research, ABC district is still struggling to implement the SSI in a way that results in high levels of change in student achievement and teacher effectiveness. School leaders, however, should not dismiss the efforts of the ABC district. It is important to remember that only one of the cohorts studied had completed the three year cycle. The survey results from this study suggest that stakeholders can clearly describe positive changes that the SS schools have seen as a result of the SSI and very few respondents believe that the initiative should end.

### REFERENCES

- A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform (1983). National Commission on Excellence in Education. The Elementary School Journal, 84 (2), 112-130. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1001303
- Ashton, D. & Green, F. (1996). *Education, training, and the global economy*. Brookfield, VT: Edward Elgar Publishers.
- Aud, S., Hussar, W., Kena, G., Bianco, K., Frohlich, L., Kemp, J., & Tahan, K. (2011). The condition of education 2011 (NCES 2011-033). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Borman, G. D., & Kimball, S. M. (2005). Teacher quality and educational equality: Do teachers with higher standards- based evaluation ratings close student achievement gaps? *Elementary School Journal*, *106* (1), 3-20.
- Charlotte Mecklenburg School Board Policy. GCKA Instructional Staff Assignments and Transfers. Retrieved from www.cms.k12.nc.us/boe/Pages/BoardPolicies.aspx.
- Clotfelter, C. T., Ladd, H. F., Vigdor, J. & Wheeler, J. (2006). High-poverty schools and the distribution of teachers and principals. *North Carolina Law Review* 85, 1346-1379.
- Coleman, J., Campbell, S., Hobson, D., McPartland, J., Mood, A., Weinfield, F., & York, L. (1966). *Equality of educational opportunity*. Washington, DC, US Government Printing Office.
- Collins, R. (2000). Situational stratification: A micro-macro theory of inequality. *Sociological Theory*, 18(1), Retrieved from www.jstor.org.librarylink.uncc.edu/stable/223280.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed method approaches (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- CMS about us (n.d.). Charlotte Mecklenburg School District website. Retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/mediaroom/aboutus/Pages/default.aspx

- Darling-Hammond, L. (2009). Recognizing and enhancing teacher effectiveness. *The International Journal of Educational and Psychological Assessment*, *3*, 1-24.
- Dillman, D. A, Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2009) *Internet, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: The tailored design method*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Duke, D. (n.d.). *Keys to sustaining successful school turnaround*. Unpublished manuscript. Charlottesville, VA: Darden/Curry Partnership for Leaders in Education. Retrieved from http://www.darden.edu/html/standard.aspx?menu\_id=39&styleid=3&id=3215
- Duke, D. L. (2006). What we know and don't know about improving low-performing schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87, 729-734.
- Duke, D. L., Konold, T. R., & Salmonowicz, M. J. (2011). Teacher perceptions of what needs to be changed in low-performing schools. *ERS Spectrum: Journal of Research and Information*, 29(1), 1-15.
- Duke, D. L., Tucker, P. D., Salmonowicz, M. J., and Vely, M. K. (2007). How comparable are the perceived challenges facing principals of low-performing schools? *International Studies in Educational Administration* 35(3), 3-21.
- Edmonds, R. (1979). Effective schools for the urban poor. *Educational Leadership*, *37*(1), 15.
- Fiske, E. B. & Ladd, H. F. (2000). *When schools compete: A cautionary tale*. Washington DC: Bookings Institution Press.
- Gaillard, F. (1999). The dream long deferred. Charlotte, NC: Briarpatch Press.
- Goet, L., Bell, C., & Little, O. (2008). *Approaches to evaluating teacher effectiveness: a research synthesis*. National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality. Retrieved from http://www.wested.org/schoolturnaroundcenter/docs/goe-research-synthesis.pdf
- Glazerman, S., Loeb, S., Goldhaber, D., Staiger, D., Raundenbush, S. and Whitehurst, G. (2010). Evaluating teachers: The important role of value-added. *Brown Center on Education Policy at Brookings*. Retrieved from http://www.brookings.edu/reports/2010/1117\_evaluating\_teachers.aspx
- Glossary of Terms (n.d.) North Carolina Department of Public Instruction. Retrieved from http://www.dpi.state.nc.us/nclb/glossary
- Godwin, R., Leland, S. M., Baxter, A. D., & Southworth, S. (2006). Sinking Swann: Public school choice and the resegregation of Charlotte's public schools. *Review of Policy Research*, 23(5), 983-997. doi:10.1111/j.1541-1338.2006.00246.x

- Graczewski, C., Ruffin, M., Shambaugh, L., & Therriault, S. (2007). Selecting and implementing whole school improvement models: A district and school administrator perspective. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, *12*(1), 75-90. doi:10.1080/10824660701247283
- Greene, J. C., Caracelli, V. J., & Graham, W. F. (1989). Toward a conceptual framework for mixed-method evaluation designs. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 11(3), 255-274. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/1163620
- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquires. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 29(2), 75-91. doi:10. 1007/BF02766777
- Hansen, W. E., Plano Clark, V. L., Petska, K. S., Creswell, J. W., Creswell, J. D. (2005). Mixed method research designs in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 224-235. doi:10. 1037/0022-0167.52.224
- Hanushek, E., & Rivkin, S. (2008). Do disadvantaged urban schools lose their best teachers? CALDER Urban Institute (Policy Brief No. 7). Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/1001269\_disadvantaged\_schools.pdf
- Herman, R., Dawson, P., Dee, T., Greene, J., Maynard, R., Redding, S., and Darwin, M. (2008). *Turning around chronically low-performing schools: A practice guide (NCEE #2008-4020)*. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance.
- Hill, H. C., Kapitula, L., & Umland, K. (2011). A validity argument approach to evaluating teacher value-added scores. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(3), 794-831. doi:10.3102/0002831210387916
- Hogan, D. (1996). To better our condition: Educational credentialing and "the silent compulsion of economic relations" in the United States. *History of Education Quarterly*. *36*(3), 243-270. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/pss/369388
- Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/publications/practiceguides
- Izzy, D. (2002). Qualitative analysis: Practice and innovation. London, UK: Routledge.
- Jackson, C. (2009). Student demographics, teacher sorting, and teacher quality: Evidence from the end of school desegregation. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 27(2), 213-256. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/599334

- Johnston, B. (2002). Absent from school: Educational policy and comprehensive reform. *The Urban Review 34(3)*; 205-230. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org.librarylink.uncc.edu/10.1007/s11256-008-0084-z
- Johnson, H. (2008). Schools: The great equalizer and the key to the American dream. In J. H. Ballentine & J. Z. Spade. (Eds). *Schools and society: A sociological approach to education* (pp. 271-285). Los Angeles: Pine Forge Press
- Johnson, O. (2008). Ecology in educational theory: Thoughts on stratification, social mobility & proximal capital. *Urban Review 40*:227-246. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org.librarylink.uncc.edu/10.1007/s11256-008-0084-z
- Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Turner, L. A. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *Journal of Methods Research* 1(2), 112-133. doi: 10.11777.1558689806298224
- Kain, J. & Singleton, K. (1996). Equality of educational opportunity revisited. *New England Economic Review*, pp. 87-111. doi: 10.1177/003804070507800403.
- Lewis, T. (2007). Social inequality in education: A constraint on an American high-skills future. *Curriculum Inquiry 37 (4)*, 329-349. http://dx.doi.org.librarylink.uncc.edu/10.1111/j.1467-873X.2007.00390.x
- Lezotte, L. W. (2009) Effective schools: Past, present, and future. Retrieved from http://www.effectiveschools.com/images/stories/brockpaper.pdf
- Mac Iver, D., & Balfanz, R. (2000). The school district's role in helping high poverty schools become high performing. In B. Gaddy (Ed). *Including at-risk students standards-based reform*. (pp. 35-69). Anorora, CO. Mid-Continent Research for Education and Learning (McRel).
- Mac Iver, M. B. (2004). Systemic supports for comprehensive school reform: The institutionalization of direct instruction in an urban school district. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk.* 43, 303-324.
- "Magnet program review." Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools. Retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/boe/ComprehensiveReview/Magnet%20Programs/Forms/AllItems.aspx

- Marzano, R. J. (2001). A new era of school reform: Going where the research takes us. Aurora, CO Mid-continent Research for Education and Learning. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED454255.pdf
- Marzano, R. J. (2007). The art and science of teaching: A comprehensive framework for effective instruction. Alexandria VA: Association for Curriculum and Supervision Development.
- Meredith v. Jefferson County Board of Education 915 U.S. 5 (2007).
- Mickelson, R. A. (1999). International business machinations: A case study of corporate involvement in local education reform. *Teachers College Record* 100(3), 476-512. doi:10.1111/0161-4681.00001
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1984). *Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. Newbury Park*, CA: Sage.
- Mintrop, H., & Trujillo, T. (2005). Corrective action in low performing schools: Lessons for NCLB implementation from first-generation accountability systems. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*. *13*(48). Retrieved from http://epaa.asu.edu/epaa/v13n48/
- National Center for Education Statistics (2010). Digest of Education Statistics: 2010. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d10/index.asp
- NC school report cards (n.d.) North Carolina Department of Public Instruction website. Retrieved from http://www.ncschoolreportcard.org/src/.
- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2008).
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Johnson, R. B. (2006). The validity issue in mixed research. *Research in Schools* 13(1), 48-63.
- Parents Involved in Community Schools v. Seattle School District No. 1, 551 U.S. 701 (2007).
- Pulliam, C. L., Tingle, L., & Schoeneberger J. L. (2010). Effectiveness of strategic staffing schools: Year 1 interim report. Center for Research and Evaluation Office of Accountability Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools. Retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/cmsdepartments/CIO/accountability/cfre/Pages/Researcha ndEvaluationReports.aspx

- Rowan, B., Correnti, R., & Miller, R. (2002). What large-scale, survey research tells us about teacher effects on student achievement: insights from the prospects study of elementary schools. *Teachers College Record*, 104(8), 1525-1567. Retrieved from http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.librarylink.uncc.edu/hww/results/external\_link\_main contentframe.jhtml?\_DARGS=/hww/results/results\_common.jhtml.44
- Rowan, B., & Miller, R. J. (2007). Organizational strategies for promoting instructional change: Implementation dynamics in schools working with comprehensive school reform providers. *American Educational Research Journal*, *44*(2), 252-298. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org.librarylink.uncc.edu/10.3102/0002831207302498
- Sanders, W. (2000). Value-added assessment from student achievement data: Opportunities and hurdles. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*. *14*(4), 329-339. doi: 10.1023/A:1013008006096
- Sanders, W., & Horn, S. (1998). Research findings from the Tennessee value-added assessment system (TVASS) database: Implications for educational evaluation and research. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*. *12*(3), 247-256. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3699496
- Sanders, W., & Rivers, J. (1996). Cumulative and residential effects of teachers on future students' academic achievement. University of Tennessee Value Added Research and Assessment Center. Retrieved from http://www.cgp.upenn.edu/pdf/Sanders\_Rivers-TVASS\_teacher%20effects.pdf
- Sass, T., Hanaway, J., Xu, Z., Figlio, D., & Feng, L. (2010). Value added of teachers in high-poverty schools and lower-poverty schools. Retrieved from National Center for the Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Educational Research (CALDER) http://www.urban.org/uploadedpdf/1001469-calder-working-paper-52.pdf
- Schoeneberger, J. A., & Pulliam, C. L. (2011). Evaluation of the strategically staffed initiative in Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools. Center for Research & Evaluation, Office of Accountability Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/cmsdepartments/CIO/accountability/cfre/Documents/State gic%20Staffing%20Evaluation%20Report%20January%202011.pdf
- School progress reports (n.d.) Charlotte Mecklenburg School District website. Retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/cmsdepartments/CIO/accountability/spr/Pages/SchoolProgressReports.aspx?year=2007-2008
- Shento, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education For Information*, 22(2), 63-75.
- Smith, M. & O'Day, J. (1991). Putting the pieces together: Systemic school reform. CPRE Policy Brief. New Brunswick, NJ: Eagleton Institute of Politics.

- Smith, S. (1997). Hugh governs? Regime and education policy in Charlotte, North Carolina. *Journal of Urban Affairs* 19(3), 248-274.
- Smith, S., & Mickelson, R. (2000). All that glitters is not gold: school reform in Charlotte-Mecklenburg. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* (22), 101-27. doi:10.3102/01623737022002101
- Strategic Plan 2014: Teaching our way to the top (n.d.) Charlotte Mecklenburg School District. Retrieved from http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/mediaroom/strategicplan2014/Pages/default.aspx
- Supovitz, J., & Taylor, B. (2005). Systemic education evaluation: Evaluating the impact of system wide reform in education. *American Journal of Education*. 26(2), 204-230. doi: 10.1177/1098214005276286
- Swann v. Charlotte Mecklenburg Board of Education, 402 U.S. 1 (1971).
- "Talent & teacher effectiveness reports 2011" (2011). Charlotte Mecklenburg School District.
- Travers, J. & Christiansen, B. (2010). Strategic staffing for successful schools: breaking the cycle of failure in Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools. Aspen Institute. Retrieved from www.aspeninstitute.org/publications/strategic-staffing-successful-schools-breaking-cycle-failure-charlotte-mecklenburg-scho.
- Tucker, P. D., Higgins, J. A., & Salmonowicz, M. J. (2010). Teacher and principal perceptions of change in low-performing schools. ERS Spectrum: *Journal of Research and Information*, 28(4), 13-25.
- Tyack D. & Cuban L. (1995). *Tinkering toward utopia: A century of public school reform*. Mass: Harvard University Press.
- U.S. Commission on Civil Rights (2005). The economic stagnation of the black middle class: A briefing before the United States Commission on Civil Rights, held in Washington, D.C., July 15, 2005. U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Department of Education (2009). Race to the top program executive summary. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/executive-summary.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education (2010). A blueprint for reform; The reauthorization of the elementary and secondary education act. Retrieved from www.2ed.gov/policy/elesec/lge/blueprint/
- U.S. Department of Education (2011) Duncan says 82 percent of America's schools could "fail" under NCLB this year. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/duncan-says-82-percent-americas-schools-could-fail-under-nclb-year.
- U.S. Department of Education, Charlotte Mecklenburg Public Schools (1993). Magnet assistance program performance report. Rep. NO ED 381 907.

- Weber, M. (2004). Economy and society. In Lemert, C. (Eds.) *Social theory: The multicultural and classical readings* (pp.99-124). Colorado: Westview Press.
- Weisberg, D., Sexton, S., Mulhern J., & Keeling, D. (2009). The widget effect: our national failure to acknowledge and act on differences in teacher effectiveness. *Education Digest*, 75(2), 31-35.
- Wetherill, K. S. & Applefield, J. M. (2002). Using school change states to analyze comprehensive school reform projects. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*. *16*(2); 197-215. doi: 10.1080/09243450500113902
- "When the system works" (2010, April 25). New York Times. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2010/04/26/opinion/26mon2.html.
- Wingert, P. (2010). "An offer they wouldn't refuse: How one district lured top principals to rescue its failing schools. *Newsweek* Oct. 10, 2011.
- Wright, S. P., Horn S. P., & Sanders, W. P. (1997). Teacher and classroom context effects on student achievement: Implications for teacher evaluation. *Journal of Personal Evaluation in Education*. 11(1), 57-67. doi: 10.1023/A:1007999204543
- Yin, R. K (2006). Mixed method research: Are the methods genuinely integrated or merely parallel? *Research in the Schools*. *13*(1), 41-47.

## APPENDIX A: SURVEY QUESTIONS

# **Principals**

# **Closed Questions**

- 1. Describe your Strategic Staffing status by choosing the category that best describes your current employment.
  - 2. Identify your Strategic Staffing Cohort.
  - 3. How many years' experience do you have as a principal?
- 4. How would you rate the ability of your Strategically Staffed teachers to improve student achievement?
- 5. How would you rate the overall ability of your Strategically Staffed teachers to improve student achievement?
- 6. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 7. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 8. How effective are your school's Professional Learning
  Communities (PLC) in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?
- 9. How much input do teachers have in decision making processes involving curriculum and instructional decisions for the school?
- 10. How much flexibility do teachers have in designing their lessons?Open-ended Questions

- 1. Which schools did you previously serve as a principal?
- 2. What factors did you consider when deciding which teachers to hire strategically?
  - 3. What data sources did you use to hire them?
- 4. Would you rehire the Strategically Staffed teachers you hired? Why or why not?
- 5. Describe the impact the Strategically Staffed teachers had on student achievement.
- 6. Were the 5 allotted positions given for Strategically Staffed teachers enough to have an impact on student achievement? If not, how many more would you recommend?
- 7. Describe some of the instructional decisions that have had the biggest impact on student achievement that you made as a Strategically Staffed Principal.
  - 8. What changes would you make to Strategic Staffing Initiative?
  - 9. What are the benefits of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
  - 10. What are the weaknesses of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
- 11. What do you perceive as internal barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?
- 12. What do you perceive as external barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?

### Staff: Non-strategically Staffed

### **Closed Questions**

- 1. How many years' experience do you have as an educator?
- 2. Identify your school's Strategic Staffing cohort?
- 3. What grades/roles have you taught/held in the last three years?
- 4. How would you rate your ability to improve student achievement?
- 5. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 6. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 7. How effective are your school's Professional Learning
  Communities (PLC) in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?
- 8. How much input do you have in decision making processes involving curriculum and instructional decisions for the school?
  - 9. How much flexibility do you have in designing their lessons?
- 10. If given an opportunity to transfer to another position in the district, would you have chosen to stay at your current school since the Strategic Staffing Initiative began?

## **Open-ended Questions**

 Describe some of the instructional decisions that have had the biggest impact on student achievement that you made as a Strategically Staffed

- 2. What changes would you make to Strategic Staffing Initiative?
- 3. What are the benefits of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
- 4. What are the weaknesses of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
- 5. What do you perceive as internal barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?
- 6. What do you perceive as external barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?

Teachers: Strategically Staffed

### **Closed Questions**

- 1. How many years' experience do you have as an educator?
- 2. Describe your Strategic Staffing Status by choosing the category that best describes your current employment.
  - 3. Identify your school's Strategic Staffing cohort?
  - 4. What grades/roles have you taught/held in the last three years?
  - 5. How would you rate your ability to improve student achievement?
- 6. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 7. How would you rate the overall ability of your entire staff to improve student achievement in the first year of the Strategically Staffed Initiative?
- 8. How effective are your school's Professional Learning
  Communities (PLC) in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?

- 9. How much input do you have in decision making processes involving curriculum and instructional decisions for the school?
- 10. How much flexibility do you have in designing their lessons?Open-ended Questions
  - 1. Why did you decide to move to a Strategically Staffed school?
  - 2. What factors impacted your decision to accept a Strategically Staffed position?
  - 3. What role do you have in school-wide decision making in regards to improving student achievement?
    - 4. What changes would you make to the Strategic Staffing Initiative?
  - 5. Describe some of the instructional decisions that have had the biggest impact on student achievement that you made as a Strategically Staffed
    - 6. What changes would you make to Strategic Staffing Initiative?
    - 7. What are the benefits of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
    - 8. What are the weaknesses of Strategic Staffing Initiative?
  - 9. What do you perceive as internal barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?
  - 10. What do you perceive as external barriers to making greater gains in student achievement in your school?

# APPENDIX B: RESEARCH QUESTION AND SURVEY ALIGNMENT

Table 27

Crosswalk of Research Questions and Surveys

		Principal	Non- StrategicallyStaffed	StrategicallyStaffed
1.	What is the perception of the groups about the Strategic Staffed Initiative as it relates to the aim to increase student achievement in their school?	5,6,7	6,7,8	8,9
2.	What perceived impact did the SS staff have on increasing student achievement?	11,12,13,14	13	15
3.	What role do teachers have in school-wide decision making process in regard to student achievement?	9,10	10,11	11,12
4.	What impact does the schools PLC have in helping teachers collaborate to improve instruction?	8	9	10
5.	What does each group perceive as the benefits of SSI?	17	15	17
6.	What does each group perceive as weaknesses of SSI?	18	16	18
7.	What does each group perceive as barriers to making greater gains in student achievement (internal and external)?	19,20	17,18	19,20
8.	What changes would each group make to improve the SSI?	16	14	16
9.	What factors/ characteristics did principals use to select SS staff and teachers use to decide to accept a SS position?	11		12,13